

If it's Broke, Fix it

Restoring Federal Government Ethics and Rule of Law

Edited by Norman Eisen

The editor and authors of this report are deeply grateful to several individuals who were indispensable in its research and production. Colby Galliher is a Project and Research Assistant in the Governance Studies program of the Brookings Institution. Maya Gros and Kate Tandberg both worked as Interns in the Governance Studies program at Brookings. All three of them conducted essential fact-checking and proofreading of the text, standardized the citations, and managed the report's production by coordinating with the authors and editor.

Table of Contents

Editor's Note: A New Day Dawns By Norman Eisen	3
Introduction	7
President Trump's Profiteering By Virginia Canter	10
Conflicts of Interest	12
Mandatory Divestitures	12
Blind-Managed Accounts.	12
Notification of Divestitures	12
Discretionary Trusts	13
Review of Financial Disclosure Reports	13
	15
Outside Influence By Walter Shaub	14
Golden Parachute Payments	14
Post-Employment Restrictions	14
Outside Activities	15
Spouse's Employment	15
Investigation and Enforcement By Walter Shaub	16
Enforcing Conflict-of-Interest Prohibitions	16
Inspector General Independence	17
Whistleblower Protection	17
Civil-Service Protections	18
Protecting U.S. Democracy Against Foreign Influence	19
The Foreign Agent Registration Act	20
FARA as a Blunt Instrument: The Threat to Media and Research Organizations	22
Reform the Media Exemption under 22 U.S.C. 611(d)	23
Establish Civil Investigative Demand Authority	24
Reform the Relationship of FARA to the Lobbying Disclosure Act	24

Restoring the Rule of Law in the Department of Justice By Claire Finkelstein and Richard Painter	25
The Levi-Bell Reforms and Aftermath	26
Enhance the Independence of Investigators and DOJ Attorneys	26
Protecting the Intelligence Community	27
Oversight Through Congressional Budgetary Process	28
Recusal and Enhanced Compliance with Advice from DOJ Ethics Officials	28
Restrict Exercise of Prosecutorial Discretion to Domestic Considerations	28
Rule of Law Violations in Our Past and the Need for Accountability	29
A Three-Step Approach to Money in Politics By Richard Painter	30
Minimizing Big Money in Politics	30
Disclosing Big Money in Politics	32
Counterbalancing Big Money in Politics	33
The Role of Transparency In a New Administration	34
International Ethics and Rule of Law Issues By Norman Eisen and Joseph Foti	38
The Open Government Partnership	38
The Extractive Industries Transparency Initiative	39
International Democracy and Rule-of-Law Forums	40
Conclusion	41
About the Authors	44
Endnotes	48

Editor's Note: A New Day Dawns

By Norman Eisen

"If it ain't broke, don't fix it." So goes the old adage. Its corollary, however, is equally important, particularly to U.S. governance and its constant reinventions over the past almost 250 years: if it is broken, do fix it. That principle has guided the American experiment from the earliest days of the Republic through the Civil War and its aftermath, cycles of depression and recovery, grievous domestic and foreign policy blunders and atrocities, and alternating progress and triumphs.

When it comes to federal government ethics and the rule of law, a great deal was broken in the past four years that must now be repaired. In this report, a group of distinguished scholars and practitioners has come together to provide an independent assessment of that problem and its solutions.

The mission that these accomplished individuals undertook was to think deeply about what went awry, the deeper weaknesses that were exposed, and how to fix these weaknesses moving forward in their particular domains of expertise. They range from ethics and conflicts of interest, to the Hatch Act and big money in politics, to transparency and independence at the Department of Justice (DOJ), to ethics issues impacting the U.S. role on the international scene. Because these issues are interwoven, and because our authors have dealt with all of them in their long professional careers, any one of them could have written any of the following sections. Topics were ultimately chosen based on areas of preeminent expertise among the group. My only other request of them was to imagine what would be the best fixes to these complex issues, without regard for any other consideration. The editor and the authors certainly recognize that many compromises will be necessary in order to translate these ideas into law and practice. Indeed, we welcome that as part of the normal policy process in which we have all worked collectively for well over a century. But compromise must not come at the expense of comprehensiveness. As the broad and interlocking

> The editor and the authors certainly recognize that many compromises will be necessary in order to translate these ideas into law and practice. ... But compromise must not come at the expense of comprehensiveness.

scope of this report demonstrates, the challenges are interconnected, and any solution must address each of these areas. We followed Brookings practice which does not generally allow endorsement of particular proposed legislation, including H.R. 1 and S. 1, the comprehensive reform bills introduced in the House and Senate in January 2021. Instead we focused on what we thought were the best solutions; the extent to which our recommendations may track with the proposed legislation or other bills is not intended as an endorsement of this legislation, although it merits and receives close attention.

As for the executive branch of government, we are encouraged as we launch this report. The new Biden administration has already commenced the reconstruction that will be needed after the ethics and rule of law devastation of the Trump era by announcing its own ethics plan through an executive order on January 20, Inauguration Day.¹ Many of the solutions discussed in this report are addressed by the Biden plan.

Its significance is not to be minimized. The editor, along with a number of the authors, had the privilege of implementing President Barack Obama's demanding ethics vision for his administration, including its centerpiece, his "Day One" executive order setting tough new rules on conflicts of interest.² It may seem like a very long time ago after four years of Donald Trump, but Obama had arguably the most scandal-free presidency in memory owing to those clear ethics rules, backed by strong transparency about their application.³

Biden's new executive order on ethics does us one better. It restores the fundamentals of the Obama plan by closing loopholes Trump opened—but going further, it includes new crackdowns on special-interest influence. If implemented rigorously (always a big if) Biden's plan promises to go further to "drain the swamp" than either of his predecessors.

As we discuss in this report, federal law establishes the basic rules for government officials to avoid conflicts of interest and other behavior that is corrupt or appears corrupt by benefiting themselves, their families, or associates. Obama went further, ordering each of his appointees to sign a pledge committing to additional safeguards on their behavior. Trump greatly watered down the standards with scandalous results. And that was before he abrogated his plan entirely on the last night of his presidency, wiping away post-employment restrictions for his officials, including restrictions on serving as foreign agents. Biden has done the opposite, restoring the Obama rules and expanding them, including when it comes to lobbying and working for foreign governments.

For example, take one of the centerpieces of the Obama plan: "reverse" revolving door restrictions. Most ethics plans focus on officials leaving government, but in the Obama administration, we also imposed limits on those coming into government, with even tougher restrictions on ex-lobbyists. Trump's executive order loosened those lobbying rules, lifting our limitation on lobbyists serving at an agency they lobbied. It is little wonder a flood of lobbyists inundated Trump's administration—more than four times the number in just one Trump term than served under Obama in twice that time. We have much more to say about these issues in the pages that follow.

The Biden plan puts that core Obama restriction for lobbyists back in place, barring them from jobs in agencies they previously sought to influence. This makes sense—letting the fox into the henhouse he just stalked is simply too dangerous, as proved by the numerous controversies involving Trump officials who led agencies they once lobbied. The new Biden plan not only fixes what Trump got wrong, it does the same for Obama's ethics regime. For example, the Biden executive order adds a restriction on so-called golden parachutes—cash bonuses granted to executives as they leave a business to join the government. These windfalls create the perception that an ex-employee may favor her benefactor, and it is about time they ended, as we explain below. The Biden plan does that, restricting exit bonuses and requiring entering officials to certify that they have not accepted other benefits (such as deferred ones) in lieu of such packages. It goes well beyond existing law and is a strong step forward.

The new plan also builds on Obama's in closing the revolving door on the other side of government employment: When employees leave. Federal law imposes a one-year limit on a departing senior official communicating on behalf of clients with the agency where the official worked. In the Obama administration, we extended that to two years, on the theory that an employer might pay an ex-official to do nothing for 12 months, but 24 months is a long time for cold storage. Trump eliminated the Obama extension, farcically declaring that his officials must follow the applicable statute—which they already had to do.

Here too, Biden not only restores the Obama restriction of two years, he goes further. Now not only are officials restricted from representing clients to their former agencies, they are also cordoned off from their peers in the White House itself. This recognizes the reality that senior agency officials engage with the White House constantly and have ties there too, not just at their former agency. This rule will restrict them from using the special access and influence that follows, and they should not be allowed to use it for private gain.

A number of other post-employment restrictions are added as well, including materially assisting

others in making communications or appearances that ex-officials are prohibited from undertaking themselves under the pledge. Here the Biden plan again improves on the Obama ethics rules by closing a loophole for "shadow lobbying"-when former officials who might not themselves be able to meet with an agency prepare and strategize with their colleagues to do so instead. There is no reason that a former official should be able to do indirectly what they cannot do directly. The Biden plan also carries over one of the few good aspects of the otherwise spurious Trump plan: restricting former officials from working as an agent for a foreign country after leaving government. But Biden also goes further, not allowing any former lobbyists for foreign countries from entering his administration.

The Obama plan gets another upgrade when it comes to one of its most controversial aspects: waivers. These are written authorizations that make an exception to the rules when doing so is in the public interest. While working for Obama, controversy erupted when I started authorizing waivers. I learned they need to be tightly regulated and highly transparent. That's why I'm glad to see the waiver provision of the Obama plan improved. That includes a new provision that waivers be made public within 10 days and imposing much more detailed rules guiding when waivers are appropriate. Above all, the new policy makes explicit that service as a public-interest lobbyist may be taken into account in deciding whether a waiver shall be issued; there is no reason that someone who advocates on behalf of charitable causes should be on the same footing as a corporate lobbyist.

Not in Biden's executive order but critically important to its success is another recently announced step: restoring the Obama-era policy of releasing White House visitor records that Trump ended. When everyone knows who is visiting the White House, its employees don't schedule meetings they shouldn't, and are too busy to sneak off campus for them (much). So the tough Biden ethics rules will be reinforced by the restored visitor-records policy. While the specifics have not yet been released, arrangements should be made to reveal both in-person meetings and details of formal video conferences that would otherwise have been in person.

Is the new Biden plan perfect? Of course not. Even more restrictions could have been loaded on prior relationships coming into government and even longer exclusions onto officials leaving the administration. Corporate lobbyists could have been barred altogether, and public interest ones automatically waived in. But all of those strictures would have come at a cost of finding the right people to do the urgent work of government in a time of pandemic, economic crisis, domestic unrest, and continued foreign war. Biden's ethics plan is the strongest, most ambitious swamp-draining plan ever. All of us will be watching to make sure it is scrupulously followed. If it is, cleaner government lies ahead—finally.

As you will read in the pages below, the Biden ethics plan captures many of the best ideas that our authors advocate and that policymakers have advanced for decades. As we have noted, both the House and the Senate are moving forward with H.R. 1 and S. 1, which also address concerns that are analyzed throughout this report, including campaign finance, ethics rules for public servants, and enforcement of the Foreign Agents Registration Act (FARA). Readers can learn a great deal more about the policy concerns these bills address in the pages that follow. The editor and the authors are proud to contribute these insights to the vibrant discussions about reconstructing ethics and the rule of law in which Washington and the United States are now engaged. It represents a burst of sun after a very dark period indeed.

Introduction

Since the Watergate scandal, a complex web of ethics and disclosure statutes, together with long-established norms, had governed the conduct in the office of the president.⁴ For decades they largely stood the test of time—until they ran headlong into Donald Trump. From the moment he descended his golden escalator to announce his candidacy, Trump signaled he was a rule-breaker interested in blowing up American governance and remaking it in his own image. His conduct while in office lived up to that promise, and his presidency can be summed up in four words: a failure of accountability.⁵

The lawlessness of the Trump presidency taught Americans that the traditions of our government were not as sturdy as many had thought. Restoring our democracy to its full strength will require more than renewing laws and norms alone; it will require sober leadership that sets high expectations for ethical conduct. But legal reforms can raise the floor for ethics and close gaps in the current legal framework.

President Trump's initial decision not to divest ownership or control of his vast business empire put him on a personal collision course with many of our existing ethics rules and principles.⁶ Placing his businesses in a revocable trust that gave him the right to control and enjoy its assets did little to assuage concerns about continuing conflicts of interest.⁷ Congress exempted the president from the federal conflicts-of-interest statute, a judgment that was vindicated by the unbroken precedent presidents had set since the 1970s of placing their assets in blind trusts administered by independent trustees.⁸ As a voluntary practice, that precedent proved no match for Trump. He did not share the institutional interest of his predecessors in maintaining both the legitimacy and the appearance of legitimacy of the presidency. His foreign entanglements and self-dealing quickly fueled concerns that he was elevating his personal interests over those of the United States.⁹

Nor did the limited disclosure requirements to which he was subject provide a sufficient brake against this conduct. Had President Trump followed the course of all previous presidents and released his taxes, the public may have had a clearer picture of the extent of his foreign entanglements and the degree to which his business holdings posed conflicts of interest and raised national-security risks.¹⁰ But by also flouting this norm, Trump was able to keep the public and Congressional overseers in the dark.

These problems highlight the urgent need to refresh our commitments to ethics and the rule of law. We must, for starters, legislatively mandate that presidential candidates release their tax forms and enhance public financial-disclosure requirements for presidents. We also propose new legislative tools for preventing conflicts of interest, limiting outside influence on high-level officials, detecting ethics violations, taking corrective action in the executive branch, and giving the Office of Government Ethics (OGE) greater powers. Other proposed reforms would enhance the independence of inspectors general, protect whistleblowers, and attend to the interaction between domestic and international ethics and rule of law issues.

The foreign dignitaries that flocked to President Trump's Washington D.C. hotel raised the specter of emoluments paid by governments seeking to win favor with the American president, as did the 66 or more foreign trademarks the Trump Organization received during his presidency, mostly from China.¹¹ A subservient Department of Justice and a Republican majority in the Senate allowed the president to violate the constitutional prohibition against accepting emoluments.¹² We propose legislation clarifying the meaning of key terms in the Emoluments Clauses and their reach.

This report proposes a three-step program that minimizes big money in politics, provides for robust disclosure to expose the role of those who pour large sums into political campaigns, and suggests a counterbalance by bringing more small donors into the picture.

> Laws against nepotism also were no obstacle for President Trump, who brought his daughter Ivanka Trump and son-in-law Jared Kushner into the White House after an Office of Legal Counsel (OLC) memo, released on his first day in office, concluded that

the White House was exempt from the anti-nepotism statute.¹³ Once ensconced in the White House as top aides, Jared and Ivanka used the levers of power to advance their financial interests and exert significant influence over U.S. domestic and foreign policies.¹⁴ Journalist Jill Abramson characterized this combination of nepotism and corruption as "the handmaidens of Trump's presidency."¹⁵ We propose legislation making express that the anti-nepotism statute applies to the president and vice president.

The post-Watergate reforms also were no match for an attorney general intent on expanding the scope and strength of the president's executive powers and willing to use his power to protect the president's personal and political interests. At Barr's direction, the Justice Department took the extraordinary step of interfering in politically charged prosecutions, breaching the line that historically had protected federal criminal prosecutions from undue political interference—a line that largely existed only as a matter of practice and comity.¹⁶

Barr also deployed scores of federal agents to Democratic-controlled cities. He claimed a need to quell left-wing protesters, when in reality the rioters were largely right-wing extremists responding in part to the president's inflammatory rhetoric.¹⁷ The now iconic image of President Trump standing in front of a church in Washington's Lafayette Square holding a bible—a scene made possible only by federal agents reportedly sent at the direction of Barr to violently clear the area of peaceful protesters—illustrates the key role the attorney general played in the Trump presidency.¹⁸

These abuses highlight the need to restore the Department of Justice's independence, protect it from partisan politics, and assure its commitment to the rule of law through changes in DOJ's policies, executive orders, and legislation. This report proposes specific recommendations that range from giving other entities a role in monitoring and reporting on what is happening at DOJ to strengthening the independence of the special counsel.

Money in politics remains a threat to American democracy, influencing who wins American elections and controlling decisions that elected officials make once in office. While Trump began his presidential campaign railing against the corrosive effect of money in politics and promised to inoculate himself from the influence of donors, the reality was far different. Trump campaign donors wielded enormous influence at all levels of his administration, laying the groundwork for the most corrupt presidency in modern history.¹⁹ This report proposes a threestep program that minimizes big money in politics, provides for robust disclosure to expose the role of those who pour large sums into political campaigns, and suggests a counterbalance by bringing more small donors into the picture.

Foreign interference has threatened the basic institutions of our democracy since its founding. The 2016 general election was a crash course for the U.S. intelligence community and lawmakers in malign foreign interference in democratic institutions.²⁰ A key legal tool to combat foreign interference—the Foreign Agent Registration Act—has proven to be ineffective. The Department of Justice has undertaken only minimal enforcement efforts and FARA's self-reporting nature, convoluted structure, and many exemptions render it toothless.²¹ This report proposes reforms to strengthen its effectiveness.

The actions of the Trump administration also revealed the critical role of an open government in countering attacks on the foundations of our democracy. President Trump set the tone early with the announcement that the White House would no longer continue the practice of the Obama administration of making public White House visitor logs.²² To protect our democracy, Congress must arm citizens with the necessary tools for transparency: A Freedom of Information Act (FOIA) law that works, recordkeeping laws that ensure the preservation of our nation's history, and access to a wealth of data.

Making these reforms is not only a matter of domestic importance. Rededicating our democracy will also be powerfully salient on the international stage. It signals our nation's commitment to taking steps to avoid the recurrence of a profoundly compromised leader such as Donald Trump, and so helps restore confidence and trust in the United States as an ally. Both for reasons of principle and American global leadership, it is also critical for the United States to reassert itself on existing multilateral rule of law efforts. These include two multi-stakeholder partnerships—the Open Government Partnership (OGP) and the Extractive Industries Transparency Initiative (EITI). In addition, there will be critical moments across the first year of the new administration to re-engage foreign governments, to showcase domestic reforms, and to exchange learning with other countries, including at President Biden's proposed "Summit for Democracy."

President Trump's Profiteering

By Virginia Canter

resident Trump's decision to retain interests in the companies that comprise the Trump Organization gave rise to unprecedented presidential profiteering and conflicts of interest.²³ From the outset, Trump was alleged to have violated the U.S. Constitution by profiting from foreign and domestic governments who patronized his hotels and other companies.²⁴ Trump's businesses served as vehicles for personal enrichment leading to literally thousands of conflicts of interest.²⁵ His debt-laden businesses made him particularly susceptible to foreign influence and a possible national-security risk. Trump's White House appointments of his son-in-law and daughter paved the way for them to advance their own financial interests. We include below a number of recommendations to prevent similar abuses by presidents in the future.

Shortly after Trump took office, he was sued for violating the Foreign²⁶ and Domestic²⁷ Emoluments Clauses due to his Trump Organization financial interests.²⁸ Unlike most modern presidents who placed their assets in independently managed blind trusts, U.S. Treasuries, or publicly held diversified mutual funds, which are widely acceptable means for addressing conflicts of interest, ²⁹ Trump retained his business interests through a trust managed by his adult sons and former business associate.³⁰

Because the Trump Organization profits from business dealings with foreign and domestic governments,³¹ it posed a risk of corrupt influences like those feared by the Framers.³² His businesses collected millions in rent from a majority-state-owned Chinese enterprise,33 and profited from foreign diplomat-held national day celebrations.34 The federal government paid millions to Trump businesses covering costs for official events Trump hosted for foreign dignitaries and charges incurred by the Secret Service.35 To prevent similar abuses, legislation should be enacted to define "emolument" to include "any profit, gain, or advantage, of more than de minimis value, received from foreign, the federal, or domestic governments, including for transactions involving services provided at fair-market value."36

Trump's failure to divest resulted in more than 3,400 conflicts of interest.³⁷ His businesses were vehicles for personal enrichment collecting more than \$13 million from special interests³⁸ and \$9.7 million from political groups.³⁹ Because the primary conflict-of-interest statute does not apply to the president,⁴⁰ Trump could not be held accountable through it for making official decisions that further his own financial interests. To prevent future abuses, legislation should be adopted to make presidents subject to 18 U.S.C. § 208 with regard to publicly or privately

held "business interests," except for non-conflicting assets like U.S. Treasuries, diversified mutual funds, and non-income-producing residential property.⁴¹

Although Trump indicated he would release his tax returns once his tax audit was over, he did not release them during his presidency and has yet to do so.⁴² If Trump released his tax returns like his modern predecessors,⁴³ we would not need to rely on reporting to learn he paid no federal income taxes in some years,⁴⁴ claimed millions in tax refunds for "abandoned" interests that may not be legitimate,⁴⁵ holds secret Chinese bank accounts, and paid foreign income tax to various countries over several years.⁴⁶ To ensure greater transparency, legislation should be adopted to mandate public disclosure of a president's tax returns each filing year.⁴⁷

With more than \$400 million in loans coming due over the next four years,⁴⁸ and traditional financing drying up,⁴⁹ Trump's business losses⁵⁰ and history of bankruptcies presented a possible national-security risk.⁵¹ But because the president is not subject to national-security adjudication procedures, legislation should require fuller public disclosure, particularly about privately held business interests, including debts, major investors, creditors, and customers.⁵² A DOJ nepotism opinion overturned 40-plus years of precedent, paving the way for Ivanka Trump and Jared Kushner to use their White House positions to advance their financial interests and exert significant influence over U.S. domestic and foreign policies.⁵³ By appointing them, Trump not only made clear that personal loyalty took precedence over allegiance to the U.S. Constitution,⁵⁴ but he enabled Kushner to effectively resist important checks on his power.⁵⁵ The anti-nepotism statute should be amended to expressly bar the president from appointing relatives to positions in the executive branch—including the White House Office—and to grant them security clearances only through regular procedures.⁵⁶

> To ensure greater transparency, legislation should be adopted to mandate public disclosure of a president's tax returns each filing year.

Conflicts of Interest

By Walter Shaub

Congress should take several steps to strengthen conflict-of-interest laws applicable to executive-branch employees.

Mandatory Divestitures

The primary conflict-of-interest law, 18 U.S.C. § 208, bars executive-branch employees from participating in particular matters affecting their financial interests or those of persons whose interests are imputed to them.⁵⁷ It does not require divestiture. In practice, top officials usually have to divest some assets to be able to perform their duties. But negotiations over divestiture can be contentious, and there is no guarantee they will always produce good results. Subject to exceptions for certain assets that are exempt from the conflict-of-interest law or are difficult to divest, Congress should mandate a broad range of divestitures for "senior employees" and "very senior employees" whose authority poses heightened risks of conflicts of interest.⁵⁸ The Office of Government Ethics should be permitted to issue individual waivers, which should be required to be posted online with an explanation.

Blind-Managed Accounts

Federal employees have established no new blind trusts since July 2006. There are several reasons for the failure of this program, including the cost of establishing blind trusts.⁵⁹ To mitigate the financial impact of the proposed new mandatory divestitures, Congress should authorize a new vehicle for resolving conflicts of interest. Stated simply, an employee would place cash in an account, then receive no information about assets the account's manager acquires. OGE would issue regulations, certify participating institutions, and approve forms for communications to ensure employees remain unaware of account holdings.⁶⁰ For the program to succeed, Congress would need to change a tax-law provision that permits deferral of capital gains when employees sell assets to resolve conflicts of interest and roll the proceeds into permitted investments. The new law should provide that the holdings of a blind-managed account qualify as permitted investments.

Notification of Divestitures

The Ethics in Government Act (EIGA) requires highlevel employees to disclose sales of certain assets, but does not require them to identify the purchaser of an asset, nor does it require disclosure of the recipient of a gift.⁶¹ This gap creates a risk of sham transactions, through which employees may "park" assets with relatives or in certain trusts and reclaim them after leaving government. Congress should enact a law requiring a financial disclosure filer to identify an asset's purchaser or recipient, unless the filer sold the asset on the open market through a broker. If the purchaser or recipient is a relative, the filer should have to disclose the sale price, quantity, and any arrangement to reacquire the asset in the future.

Review of Financial Disclosure Reports

OGE reviews financial disclosure reports of presidential nominees for Senate-confirmed positions before they enter government, but it does not conduct a similarly timed review of the reports of new agency heads whose positions do not require Senate confirmation.64 Thus, OGE never reviews the financial disclosure report of the director of the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention.⁶⁵ To take another example, OGE reviews the financial disclosure of the postmaster general only after postal-service ethics officials have finished their review, which begins only after a new postmaster general has already entered government.66 This gap has created problems, and Congress should amend EIGA to provide for OGE to review the financial disclosure reports of all agency heads before they enter government.

Discretionary Trusts

Gaps in EIGA and the conflict-of-interest law make discretionary trusts problematic. A discretionary trust is one whose trustee has the authority to decide whether to make distributions to eligible beneficiaries, potentially giving some less than others or nothing at all.⁶² OGE has said an eligible beneficiary lacks a financial interest in a discretionary trust's holdings and needs not disclose them in a financial disclosure report.⁶³ Congress should amend EIGA to require disclosure. Congress could also consider creating a narrow recusal obligation as to trust assets that exceed a specified value, with the option for OGE to issue a waiver that would be posted on its website.

Outside Influence

By Walter Shaub

Gaps in existing laws and regulations leave executive-branch employees vulnerable to outside influences.

Golden Parachute Payments

Current law fails to prevent outside employers from making gratuitous payments to employees leaving to accept executive-branch positions. A conflict of interest law, 18 U.S.C. § 209, prohibits executive-branch employees from receiving certain payments from sources outside the government. But the law applies only if:

- the payment is made "as compensation for" the employee's federal service, a difficult showing to make;
- the payment was made *after* the employee entered government;⁶⁷ and
- the employee serves in the government with compensation.

OGE's regulations only partly close this gap through a very narrow recusal obligation that applies when an employee received an "extraordinary payment" before entering government.⁶⁸ Therefore, Congress should enact a new law that imposes a prohibitively broad recusal obligation on non-career senior and very senior employees, such as the one that applies when they own stock in companies. The law should apply whether the employee received the payment before or after entering government, and whether or not the employee serves in government for compensation. An exception should apply if the employee demonstrates to the satisfaction of OGE's director that a payment in the same amount would have been made even if the employee had not gone into government.

Post-Employment Restrictions

A conflict-of-interest law restricts former senior employees for one year from lobbying their former agencies and restricts former very senior employees for two years from lobbying a broader swath of the government.⁶⁹ Reflecting the heightened risk of a "revolving door" conflict, President Obama issued an executive order extending the restriction for former non-career senior employees to two years, but President Trump rescinded that extension.⁷⁰ Congress should extend the restriction to two years for former non-career senior employees to more firmly close the revolving door. A two-year cooling off period is a long time for an employer to pay a former official before influence peddling can begin, whereas a mere one-year gap is more tolerable. For former non-career very senior employees, reflecting the greater power they held and so the greater risk of post-employment influence, the restriction should last for the duration of the administration in which they were appointed or two years, whichever is longer.⁷¹

Outside Activities

To reduce the risk of conflicts of interest associated with outside positions, Congress should amend EIGA to prohibit any non-career senior or very senior employee from serving, with or without compensation, as a director, officer, employee or trustee of an outside entity.⁷² Congress should also amend an exception that allows certain White House employees to engage in political activity while on duty or in a federal building, so that only *de minimis* political activity is permitted.⁷³ Congress should also amend an exception that allows certain White House employees to engage in political activity while on duty or in a federal building, so that only *de minimis* political activity is permitted.

Spouse's Employment

Existing laws permit the spouse of a high-level employee to represent clients before the employee's agency,⁷⁴ creating an appearance of profiting inappropriately from public service. Recusal can help, but even if the employee recuses, agency employees may feel pressure to give the spouse's client preferential treatment. Congress should address this risk by prohibiting a non-career senior or very senior employee from participating in any particular matter affecting the known financial interests of any client the employee's spouse represents before the agency.

Investigation and Enforcement

By Walter Shaub

Executive-branch ethics restrictions are of little value if violations are not detected and addressed. These proposals would strengthen investigative and enforcement systems.

Enforcing Conflict-of-Interest Prohibitions

The executive branch lacks an effective mechanism for enforcing conflict-of-interest laws and ethics regulations against political appointees when a president does not care about ethics. Even in the best of times, the predominantly criminal nature of conflict-of-interest laws makes the Justice Department reluctant to enforce them. Although there is an option to pursue civil monetary penalties instead of criminal prosecution, the Justice Department has shown relatively little interest in this alternative.⁷⁵ In addition, because the primary conflict-of-interest laws are criminal in nature, courts must interpret them narrowly.

Congress should enact a noncriminal conflict-of-interest statute applicable to non-career employees that has a broader reach, lighter penalties, and an effective enforcement mechanism. The law would provide for OGE and the Merit Systems Protection Board (MSPB) to impose fines administratively. EIGA currently allows OGE and agency ethics offices to impose a \$200 fine when an employee misses a financial disclosure filing deadline.⁷⁶ The Hatch Act allows the MSPB to impose a \$1,112 fine when a career employee or a non-career employee not confirmed by the Senate violates that law.⁷⁷ Consistent with this existing framework, OGE should be allowed to impose the \$200 fine when an employee violates the noncriminal conflict-of-interest law or government ethics regulations.⁷⁸

OGE should also be allowed to ask the MSPB to impose a larger fine, which in the case of noncriminal conflict-of-interest violations could be as much as the full value of the asset at issue. The MSPB should be required to defer to any reasonable adverse factual inference OGE has drawn when the employee and the employee's agency have refused to cooperate with OGE's investigation (subject to any applicable Fifth Amendment right). The law should provide an off-ramp that incentivizes bad actors to leave government by automatically waiving a fine if the individual resigns within 30 days of its final imposition. The MSPB enforcement mechanism should include safeguards and procedures similar to those that apply to appeals filed by career employees challenging a termination, including a limited right to seek review by the Federal Circuit Court of Appeals.79 Although reducing penalties may seem counter-intuitive to strengthening ethics enforcement, officials would be more likely to enforce a noncriminal conflict-of-interest law. To prevent politically motivated abuse, the law should require OGE to suspend any investigation or enforcement action in the 12-month period prior to a presidential election.

Inspector General Independence

A 2008 law requires a president to give Congress 30 days' notice before firing an inspector general.⁸⁰ The idea was that Congress would use the notice period to investigate the firing and create public pressure on the president to back off of any inappropriate firing. But Congress proved unwilling to use its leverage to stop President Trump's retaliatory firings of inspectors general.⁸¹ Congress should strengthen the law by providing that the 30-day waiting period does not begin until the president has provided Congress with all information and records forming the basis of the termination.

Congress should also make this law enforceable by authorizing inspectors general to file suit challenging a termination.⁸² The law should place the burden of proof on the administration to establish that the termination was for one of several prescribed causes and that it followed applicable procedures. In meeting this burden, the administration should be limited to only the information and records it provided Congress 30 days before the termination became effective.

To deter politically motivated actions, the law should also provide that the highest-ranking career employee with the most seniority will automatically backfill a fired inspector general until the Senate confirms a replacement. The law should give that official the right to sue to challenge efforts to appoint someone else as acting inspector general.

> The past four years have made clear that additional protections are needed for whistleblowers.

Whistleblower Protection

For inspectors general to function effectively, they need access to information whistleblowers possess. The past four years have made clear that additional protections are needed for whistleblowers.⁸³

Congress should make it a criminal offense for a member of Congress, a Congressional staffer, or any political appointee in the executive branch to knowingly and willfully expose the identity of a whistleblower. The law should also grant any individual, whether or not a whistleblower, the right to sue for damages, including emotional distress, if the individual suffers harassment or retaliation soon after a covered government official—either knowingly and willfully or as a result of gross negligence—makes a public statement that they know or should know would reasonably lead members of the public to suspect the individual of being a whistleblower.⁸⁴

Current law provides that whistleblower protection applies only when an employee reasonably believes a disclosure evidences "any violation of any law, rule, or regulation; or ... gross mismanagement, a gross waste of funds, an abuse of authority, or a substantial and specific danger to public health or safety."⁸⁵ Congress should eliminate this limitation when an employee has released unclassified information to a supervisor, the agency head, the inspector general, or the Office of Special Counsel (OSC). There is no need to discourage lawful whistleblowing accomplished through appropriate channels.

Congress should also adopt two recommendations by the Project on Government Oversight.⁸⁶ First, whistleblowers should be able to bypass the MSPB and take retaliation complaints directly to court. Second, Congress should put military whistleblowers on equal footing with civilian whistleblowers by eliminating a requirement to prove a personnel action would not have been taken absent whistleblower retaliation.

In the case of whistleblowing that involves classified information, Congress should create a special threejudge panel. The panel should have authority to issue an interim stay of any personnel action against a covered whistleblower upon a finding of probable cause to believe it was taken partly in retaliation for lawful whistleblowing. The panel should also be able to take specified steps to protect whistleblowers against retaliation. It could also serve as a backstop to review a claim of an "urgent concern" that the intelligence-community inspector general has found to be credible but has not reported to Congress.⁸⁷ In that case, the panel should have authority to take action to ensure Congress is notified.

Civil-Service Protections

Some of the most important anti-corruption laws are among the most overlooked or maligned: laws protecting civil servants from arbitrary personnel actions. Most career federal employees who have completed probationary periods can be fired only for cause and can appeal a termination to the MSPB.⁸⁸ These protections make it harder for political appointees to pressure them to ignore fraud, waste, and abuse, or to reject unlawful orders.⁸⁹

In October of last year, President Trump issued an executive order laying the groundwork to undermine civil-service protections.⁹⁰ In doing so, he exploited a loophole that allows presidents to exempt positions from the law granting the right to appeal a termination.⁹¹ Even if the incoming administration rescinds this order, Congress should act to prevent a future president from picking up where President Trump left off. It should restrict the president to exempting no more than 1,500 positions and prohibiting current government employees from being swept into exempt positions.⁹²

Congress should take additional steps to shore up protections. For example, it should grant MSPB appeal rights to most non-probationary employees who lack them, including Department of Veterans Affairs executives, and extend the full protection of the prohibited-personnel-practices law to most employees who lack such protection.⁹³ Congress should also amend the Hatch Act to prohibit any political appointee in the Executive Office of the President from recommending a personnel action against a career employee not in the appointee's chain of command. Finally, Congress should limit the president's authority to restrict union activity in the executive branch, which President Trump abused.⁹⁴

Balanced against these expanded due-process rights, Congress should extend all one-year probationary periods to three years and extend all two-year probationary periods to five years. To reduce the risk of abuse, the Office of Special Counsel should receive a line-item appropriation that can only be used for investigating claims of politically motivated terminations of probationary employees.

Protecting U.S. Democracy Against Foreign Influence

By Claire Finkelstein

he 2016 general election provided a crash course for the U.S. intelligence community and lawmakers on malign foreign interference with U.S. elections and democratic institutions more generally.95 It showed that foreign powers can influence the opinions of American voters, both through disinformation and through hacking and release of information, and that such covert-operation campaigns can be sufficiently powerful that the potential exists for foreign powers to affect the outcome of our elections and other democratic processes.96 Similar impact has been identified outside the U.S., and the signs of Russian attempts to undermine the foundations of democratic governance across Western Europe are unmistakable.97 Russian covert operations in the UK appear to have played a role in garnering public enthusiasm for BREXIT, according to a report of Parliament.98 Russian propaganda efforts and funding of far-right candidates in the French, German, Italian, Spanish, and Danish elections have proven a persistent threat to democratic governance,99 and consistent attacks on the NATO alliance have assaulted the unity of democratic nations and targeted their ability to protect one another against Russian attacks.¹⁰⁰ Interestingly, Western Europe appears to have fought back more effectively against Russian disinformation and efforts to fund right-wing candidates than either the UK or the U.S., though such measures may come at the price of incursions on freedom of the press and other civil liberties.¹⁰¹

The public, however, both in the U.S. and abroad, still fails to grasp the magnitude of foreign influence peddling and cyber incursions across the globe. In the U.S., we are confronting the most intrusive Russian cyber operation in U.S. history, one that successfully targeted multiple agencies, including the Department of Homeland Security and the Department of Energy.¹⁰² This goes far beyond previous cyber attacks, in which the Kremlin hacked into networks and disseminated unflattering information about candidates they disfavored or sought to create confusion with polarizing posts on social media.¹⁰³ These attacks have exacerbated existing divisions within the American public and fanned the flames of political polarization and racial hatred.¹⁰⁴ Even without cyber interference, the Russians and other nations have proven themselves effective with lobbying efforts directed at members of Congress and other holders of public office.¹⁰⁵ And they have attempted to reshape the nature of U.S. alliances abroad, worsening discord among allies and advancing alliances among countries with profoundly different orientations.106

The problem now goes far beyond Russia. In addition to the baleful influence of the Kremlin on U.S. politics and on Ukraine, recent reports of cyber interference have broadened the focus from Russia to Iran, China, and Saudi Arabia.¹⁰⁷ While foreign lobbying and foreign meddling in U.S. politics have been consistent threats throughout U.S. history, the advent of cyber techniques has transformed the nature of the threats and their likelihood of success.¹⁰⁸

If democratic nations do not learn to self-censor the most extreme material, particularly on the internet, their very openness to differing viewpoints will act as a door through which illiberal foreign nations can exploit them.

> The coming decade will be a dangerous one from the standpoint of foreign interference. Russian attempts to hijack U.S. democracy as well as democratic governance elsewhere on the globe has been phenomenally effective, despite the fact that Russian efforts in support of Donald Trump fell short in 2020.¹⁰⁹ Russia may have lost the battle but ultimately won the war, however, as other countries have learned from Russia's efforts. China, North Korea, Saudi Arabia, and Iran¹¹⁰ have mounted sophisticated cyber campaigns that display an evolving understanding of the power of social media and prey on the vulnerabilities of our cyber defenses. In the long run, we will need to examine our own practices and the vulnerabilities they create. Democratic nations, with their robust traditions of free speech and political self-expression, are particularly subject to attack via open-internet platforms.¹¹¹ If democratic nations do not learn to self-censor the most extreme material, particularly on the internet, their very openness to differing viewpoints will act as a door through which illiberal foreign nations can exploit them.¹¹² In a world connected by social media and internet functionality, there is no longer a way to remain internally open, yet guarded, with respect to malign foreign actors.

Against this background, this section will review the available legal tools to combat foreign interference and assess their efficacy. As we shall see, the primary tool in the United States, the Foreign Agent Registration Act, has been largely ineffective in combating foreign interference, and ironically it has at times been misused and distorted to serve as a vehicle of foreign interference. FARA reform is in the air, and until we replace FARA with more effective weapons in the battle against foreign attacks on democratic governance, it will be critical to understand how to make FARA more effective as a tool for fighting foreign interference.

The Foreign Agent Registration Act

Prior to the 2016 U.S. elections, few Americans had heard of FARA, 22 U.S.C § 611 *et seq.*, a disclosure statute originally passed in 1938 pursuant to the recommendations of a Congressional committee investigating anti-American activities in the United States.¹¹³

FARA was not intended to eliminate the lobbying efforts of foreign powers, but to ensure that the American people and U.S. policymakers knew when political, legislative, and public relations are being carried out in furtherance of the interests of a foreign principal.¹¹⁴ Transparency, as opposed to regulation, was the idea, as this would avoid the need to evaluate the motivations, aims, and content of foreign lobbying campaigns.¹¹⁵ FARA was designed in particular to forestall the use by foreign powers of American citizens to influence domestic public opinion while concealing the true source of the sponsoring government.¹¹⁶

Recent cases, however, have shown just how impoverished the Department of Justice's tools are for combatting foreign influence and cyber intrusions, as well as just how weak a tool FARA is for combatting the use of propaganda in foreign covert operations.¹¹⁷ Despite an increase in the enforcement efforts of the DOJ National Security Division, there have been very few prosecutions brought on the basis of FARA violations, and even fewer convictions. Most FARA enforcement actions result in compliance on the part of the subjects, or else an agreement that the subject does not need to register under the statute.¹¹⁸ Where prosecutions take place, they are usually on the basis of false statements made to DOJ investigators.¹¹⁹

Broadly speaking, there have been two impediments to making FARA an effective tool in fighting foreign interference. The first difficulty is the fairly minimal nature of the DOJ's prosecution efforts under FARA over the years, which is at least in part a function of the statute's poor design. FARA requires voluntary disclosure of foreign lobbying efforts, and it contains no provision for civil investigation. This makes violations difficult to detect.¹²⁰ Unsurprisingly, the statute fails to motivate compliance and generates only minimal penalties for violators.

Second, there is the difficulty of bringing effective enforcement under the statute once an action has been initiated.¹²¹ FARA actions have typically resulted in very few convictions, since they can usually be cured by voluntary compliance, which blunts the deterrent effect of FARA prosecutions. Between 1938 and 1965, one source indicates that there were only nine reported completed cases and 31 indictments.¹²² The audit by the Office of the Inspector General concluded there were only seven prosecutions between 1966 and 2015.¹²³ In addition to the foregoing problems with prosecution, several of the exemptions from the reporting requirements significantly limit the reach of the statute as well as undermine compliance. The_Lobbying Disclosure Act (LDA) exemption, for example, allows foreign agents to register their activity through a more streamlined application process and with less direct supervision.¹²⁴ The weakly supervised exemptions for "scholastic" or "non-political" activities make the process significantly easier for foreign agents seeking to hide their activities.¹²⁵ By design, such a loosely worded exemption coupled with a voluntary compliance scheme is prone to exploitation.¹²⁶

There are also significant problems enforcing FARA due to a lack of clarity regarding the scope of the Act.¹²⁷ Indeed, the Act is so vaguely worded that the statute may violate a fundamental principal of due process and create a constitutional problem of notice. As Judge Jackson noted in dismissing the second of the two charges in a recent FARA case, the "rule of lenity" requires that vagueness in Congress' intent about who should fall within the scope of the statute gives the benefit of the doubt to the defendant.¹²⁸

In light of the foregoing factors, there is understandable resistance to strengthening FARA as a tool to combat foreign interference. The greatest concerns have to do with the fear that FARA will have-and indeed already is having-a chilling effect on media outlets that do not fall under the exemption, if they are wholly controlled by a foreign principal.¹²⁹ There is a similar concern that FARA may have a negative impact on universities and research organizations, many of whom receive foreign grant assistance and other forms of financial support from foreign governments, and that the scholarly exemptions may not be clearly articulated enough to forestall such effects.130 I explore these concerns in detail in the following section. As we shall see, there is a readily available solution to the First Amendment concerns with the statute. Some such solution must be put in place before FARA can be adequately strengthened to serve its purpose.

FARA as a Blunt Instrument: The Threat to Media and Research Organizations

In this section, I address actions under FARA pertaining to press organizations doing business in the U.S. who are required to register under the Department of Justice guidelines as "agents of a foreign principal." Although press organizations are generally exempt from registration requirements under 22 U.S.C. § 611(d), the exemption does not apply when the organization is largely under the control of a foreign governmental entity.¹³¹ In such cases, the press or media organization will be considered as acting in the political or publicity interests of a foreign government.¹³²

Concerns relating to foreign-controlled media outlets that have been required to register as agents of foreign principals under FARA have sparked concern among First Amendment advocates as well as those focused on academic freedom and respect for academic research.¹³³ The critical question is whether FARA can be made more effective in its essential purpose without infringing upon the rights of the press under the First Amendment as well as the general commitment in a free and open society not to censure or otherwise restrict media organizations. Protection of national security and the health and safety of the nation are two rare, but cautiously claimed exceptions to these principles. FARA seeks to strike an effective balance between protecting media organizations and protecting the right of U.S. citizens to be protected against the interference of foreign nations with the foundations of their democracy, by identifying, rather than censuring, press organizations whose primary purpose is to advocate for the interests of a foreign principal. The need to register as a foreign agent is not a direct imposition on the rights of the press.¹³⁴ However, registration under FARA does presently entail loss of Congressional press standing as well as a certain amount of social stigma that may serve to discredit the work of any organization so situated.¹³⁵

The vagueness of the statute in its present form has had a particularly damaging impact on press organizations, an ironic result in light of the media exemption.¹³⁶ The ambiguity creates uncertainty and arguably a serious risk of lack of adequate notice to prospective registrants under the statute. Whenever the potential targets of an enforcement action are identified with insufficient clarity, there is a risk of a chilling effect and a possible further risk of over-deterrence or abuse of the legislative scheme.¹³⁷

The exemption contained in § 611(d) makes clear that the term "agent of a foreign principal" is a prerequisite for registration under the statute. Under § 612(a), it does not include "any news or press service or association organized under the laws of the United States," provided that the organization is (i) at least 80 percent owned by a U.S. person or U.S. person(s), and (ii) such news organization "is not owned, directed, supervised, controlled, subsidized, or financed, and none of its policies are determined by any foreign principal or by any agent of a foreign principal required to register under this subchapter." One of the principal difficulties is the need to interpret the concept of "control by a foreign principal." What exactly constitutes control? When is a U.S. person or organization engaged in "political activities" on behalf of a foreign principal? When is a U.S. person or organization acting as a "publicity agent" of a foreign principal?

Some First Amendment advocacy groups, such as the Knight Foundation, have expressed grave concerns about requiring media and press organizations to register under FARA under any circumstances.¹³⁸ The price we pay for increased control over foreign propaganda, they believe, is not worth the risk that such press organizations will have their activities chilled by the pressure to demonstrate they are not under the control of a foreign principal, or that research organizations will be concerned to accept foreign funds because of potential allegations of falling under the auspices of FARA, thus potentially chilling or impairing legitimate research.¹³⁹

In recent years, numerous bills have been introduced both in the House and Senate in an attempt to reform FARA. They have sought to strengthen its enforcement, tighten its exemptions, or otherwise amend FARA to better face the challenges posed by foreign-agent registration in today's global climate.¹⁴⁰ A plethora of pending FARA legislation comes from both sides of the aisle. The bills' sponsors hope that through addressing the loose exemptions and other holes in FARA, they may mitigate the abuses of FARA's present requirements.¹⁴¹

The following are proposed reforms to FARA.¹⁴²

Reform the Media Exemption under 22 U.S.C. 611(d)

The exemption for media under 22 U.S.C. § 611(d) should be reformed to maximize First Amendment

protection and avoid over-deterrence based on ambiguity with respect to who satisfies the requirements of the statute. As discussed above, clarity regarding the press exemption from the FARA provisions is urgently needed. There are several possibilities that may be worth considering in the immediate future.

One possibility is to amend 22 U.S.C. § 611(d) to require registration only for news organizations that are subject to the direction and control of content by a foreign government or foreign political party. As indicated in the previous section, the current approach of the provision is conjunctive: The media organization must be owned 80 percent or more by U.S. persons, and none of its policies may be determined by any foreign principal or any agent of a foreign principal.¹⁴³ Thus it is compatible with the registration requirement that a media organization would have to register under FARA that was more than 80 percent owned by U.S. persons, but where under the final subsection of § 611(d), the organization was found to have its policies "determined" by a foreign principal.¹⁴⁴ Under this suggestion, then, the only question would be whether the organization is "subject to the direction and control of content" by a foreign government or foreign political party.¹⁴⁵

In short, 22 U.S.C. § 611(d) requires clarification regarding the phrase "owned, directed, supervised, controlled, subsidized, or financed ..." as well as the phrase "determined by any foreign principle...."¹⁴⁶ The relevant amendment should provide a substantive test for identifying media organizations whose policies are "determined" by a foreign principal, since formal factors alone do not reliably establish individuals or organizations that should be thought of as agents of a foreign principal.

Establish Civil Investigative Demand Authority

Congress should provide the Department of Justice with civil investigative demand (CID) authority to enable effective investigation of possible FARA violations.¹⁴⁷ This is consistent with H.R. 1 Sec. 7101 and 7102, which provides for the establishment of an enforcement unit within the National Security Division (NSD) empowered to impose civil fines,¹⁴⁸ but goes further to plainly give the relevant unit the civil investigative demand authority to impose and enforce subpoenas and other binding investigatory tools; and (2) establish the relevant CID authority within the Counterintelligence and Export Control Section (CES) in the National Security Division, which currently houses the FARA enforcement division in the Department of Justice. The CES supervises the investigation and prosecution of cases involving national security, foreign relations, and the export of military and strategic commodities and technology. It also provides legal advice to the U.S. Attorney's Offices regarding all matters relating to FARA.

Reform the Relationship of FARA to the Lobbying Disclosure Act

Congress should amend 22 U.S.C. § 613(h), which currently exempts individuals or organizations registered under the Lobbying Disclosure Act of 1995, 2 U.S.C.A. § 1601 et. seq., to eliminate the exemption once an individual or organization has registered under the LDA.149 While this would result in duplicate registrations in a number of cases, the redundant registrations would in fact be a welcome check on activities relating to foreign lobbying. Repealing the LDA exemption should increase FARA registrations and therefore more accurately represent the body of foreign agents at work. To expand the authorization of the DOJ in handling FARA cases, the U.S. may begin to enable better enforcement mechanisms for FARA. With the number of bills drawing attention to FARA's shortcomings, the question may be asked why only one has received a mark-up and the others have yet to leave their assigned committee.¹⁵⁰ With the redundancy in FARA evaluations which call for better DOJ enforcement mechanisms and the removal of the LDA exemption, there is no rationality behind delaying FARA reform further.

Restoring the Rule of Law in the Department of Justice

By Claire Finkelstein and Richard Painter

The Department of Justice plays a unique role in protecting U.S. democracy. In order to assure the American public that the decisions of the DOJ are based on legitimate prosecutorial discretion rather than on political favoritism or electoral politics, prosecutions must be politically neutral and motivated only by the aim to enforce the law evenhandedly. DOJ's mission is to "enforce the law and defend the interests of the United States according to the law,"¹⁵¹ not to claim legal justification for politically motivated actions.

When the DOJ faithfully conforms to the law, it serves as powerful reinforcement for the rule of law and for democratic governance. But the flip side is also true: The DOJ is particularly well situated to corrupt the rule of law given its ability to manipulate the law to achieve partisan political aims. Any attempt to justify illegal or unethical conduct by claiming the authority of the law itself will do disproportionate damage, since such distortions strike at the very concept of legality itself. Treating legal compliance as a creative exercise in public relations will quickly lead to the disintegration of rule-of-law values, not just in the DOJ, but in government as a whole.

During the summer of 2020 the Center for Ethics and the Rule of Law (CERL) at the University of Pennsylvania and Citizens for Responsibility and Ethics in Washington (CREW) convened a bipartisan working group to examine the conduct of the DOJ during the tenure of Attorney General William Barr. The working group presented a number of serious concerns relating to the functioning of the DOJ from 2019 to 2020 in a public report.¹⁵² A core theme connecting this misconduct was the extreme politicization of the Department across its many different functions. The working group concluded that the politicization was so extreme that the DOJ effectively functioned as a *de facto* arm of the president's political campaign for re-election.¹⁵³

Mr. Barr appears to have engaged in a systematic effort to use the DOJ's powers of investigation offensively against Donald Trump's critics or against individuals from the Obama administration who had a role in initiating the Russia probe known as "Operation Crossfire Hurricane." By initiating politicized counter-investigations, the DOJ helped to foster an atmosphere of suspicion and intimidation relating to the intelligence community. The politicization of the intelligence function weakens U.S. national security by casting doubt on the agencies whose job it is to help keep us safe from foreign and domestic adversaries. Attacks on the intelligence community were amplified in Congress, possibly coordinated by Mr. Barr, where three Senate committees placed roughly 50 former Obama-era officials on a "subpoena watch list," causing enormous personal distress and creating an atmosphere of vicious public attacks. Such coordinated disinformation campaigns across the branches represent a grave threat to our democracy.

The Levi-Bell Reforms and Aftermath

The CERL/CREW working group was in part inspired by the example of Attorney General Edward Levi, a Republican appointed by President Ford in the aftermath of the Watergate scandal.¹⁵⁴ Levi's reforms included guidelines for FBI surveillance and other law-enforcement activities, reinforcing the ideal of professionalism and adherence to separation of powers and new rules and structures to assure the integrity of DOJ actions.¹⁵⁵ Attorney General Griffin Bell continued Levi's reforms during the Carter administration.¹⁵⁶

When government breaks the law, but uses the trappings and language of law to justify its conduct, the very concept of legality is damaged.

Most of the Levi-Bell reforms were short-lived. This was in part because these reforms could easily be changed by subsequent attorneys general. Another problem was the increased politicization of the DOJ beginning in the 1980s. This was followed after 9/11 by the DOJ promotion of the controversial, and illegal, effort to justify the use of torture to obtain information from detainees.¹⁵⁷ A series of misleading Office of Legal Counsel memos in 2002 and 2003 professing the legality of harsh interrogation techniques was one of the lowest points in the history of the DOJ

and significantly damaged the agency's credibility.¹⁵⁸ Some of these memos were subsequently withdrawn by the Department.¹⁵⁹

When government breaks the law, but uses the trappings and language of law to justify its conduct, the very concept of legality is damaged and the rule of law is badly compromised.¹⁶⁰ Below we summarize the recommendations of the working group, offered in the spirit of the Levi-Bell reforms, to repair the DOJ's credibility before the American people and to restore fidelity to the rule of law in the executive branch.

The CERL/CREW Report included specific recommendations designed to enhance the independence of the DOJ from partisan politics and to ensure the DOJ's commitment to the rule of law.¹⁶¹ The two authors of this section were co-reporters for the CERL/CREW Report. The recommendations are set out in the discussion that follows.

Enhance the Independence of Investigators and DOJ Attorneys

Congress should strengthen the independence of DOJ lawyers who are investigating the president, vice president, their campaigns, and close family. In the 1988 decision *Morrison v. Olson*, the Supreme Court upheld the former independent-counsel statute. That suggests that a new independent-counsel statute would be constitutional and would stand up to judicial scrutiny.¹⁶² In the meanwhile, the president could establish an office of special counsel in the DOJ by executive order, with authority to investigate alleged

criminal conduct in the previous administration. One important investigation within the purview of such an independent counsel would be obstruction of justice, a crime that makes it illegal for the president or other high-ranking official to remove any prosecutor for the purpose of obstructing an ongoing criminal investigation.¹⁶³

U.S. attorneys should be protected from removal by establishing fixed terms in office, such as 10 years. Such a statute would prevent the president from removing a U.S. attorney other than for cause. Like the independent-counsel statute, such a restriction on the removal power of the president might be challenged on the grounds that it was inconsistent with his powers under Article II.¹⁶⁴ The Supreme Court should recognize the unique functions of prosecutors, responsible for enforcing existing law, and protect them by upholding a statute providing reasonable job security for U.S. attorneys.

In a similar vein, inspectors general have a critically important independent role in investigating alleged waste, fraud, and abuse within the agencies they oversee.¹⁶⁵ Inspectors general are not infrequently the bearers of bad news as the officers tasked with verifying compliance with law, regulation, and policy within their respective governmental agency. They need to be protected from reprisals and political pressure. One approach would be to have fixed terms for inspectors general as we have suggested for U.S. attorneys. Although there is uncertainty about whether such a statutory restriction on presidential removal power is constitutional, we believe it is essential to the independence of an inspector general.¹⁶⁶

It would also be helpful to transfer some of the responsibilities of the Office of Professional Responsibility (OPR) to inspectors general. The Inspector General Access Act of 2019 (S. 685 / H.R. 202) would provide for this needed change.¹⁶⁷ It is important that the DOJ inspector general be empowered to investigate alleged misconduct in the DOJ without such investigations being delayed because of OPR.¹⁶⁸ Inspectors general must make reports to Congress, and OPR's handling of a matter should not interfere with this important aspect of Congressional oversight.

Similarly, partisan politics will have less influence on the work of the DOJ if career DOJ attorneys have more influence relative to political appointees. One approach is to reduce the number of political appointees in the DOJ. Another approach is to require the DOJ to document material disagreements between career DOJ attorneys and political appointees in writing unless the political appointees defer to career attorneys. Political appointees should not be allowed to intrude into the hiring, evaluation, promotion, or firing process for career civil servants. The Office of Special Counsel, charged with enforcing the civil service laws and the Hatch Act, should be protected in its ability to exercise oversight of the DOJ.

Protecting the Intelligence Community

A series of counter-investigations conducted by the DOJ in connection with Russian interference in the 2016 election may have caused lasting damage to the United States intelligence community.¹⁶⁹ DOJ investigations can undermine the independence of the intelligence community, particularly if those investigations are politically motivated.¹⁷⁰ Carelessly handled DOJ investigations in the intelligence community could compromise sources and methods of obtaining intelligence. Disclosure of even a small amount of information could endanger the lives of intelligence operatives working outside the United States.¹⁷¹

The Office of the Director of National Intelligence (ODNI) Inspector General's office should guide DOJ investigations within ODNI. The DOJ should be required to coordinate with the ODNI Inspector General's office to make sure investigations do not compromise the quality of our intelligence or unfairly intimidate intelligence employees.

Oversight Through Congressional Budgetary Process

Congress should also use the full range of its powers to ensure greater accountability from the DOJ, particularly the power of the purse. This includes requiring regular testimony from the attorney general before Congress and compliance with Congressional subpoenas. The elected representatives of the people who decide on the disbursement of public funds are entitled to demand information on how that money is being spent by the DOJ and, as part of the budgetary process, Congress should make sure that information is provided.

Recusal and Enhanced Compliance with Advice from DOJ Ethics Officials

Federal ethics statutes and regulations do not change from administration to administration and should not be interpreted based upon political ideology. Most DOJ ethics officials are career DOJ attorneys rather than political appointees and, with civil service job protection, are well suited to give ethics advice that may not be popular with senior DOJ officials. The DOJ should report to Congress when a presidentially appointed DOJ official acts contrary to advice from DOJ ethics officials.

In addition, the DOJ's presidential appointees should recuse from any matter involving the president in his personal capacity, the president's family, business entities owned by the president, the president's campaign, matters involving close associates of the president, and people appointed by the president to positions in the United States government. The same goes for the vice president and the vice president's family and business interests. Presidential appointees in the DOJ should also recuse from matters involving members of Congress who are running for office as well as from matters involving presidential candidates and their families.

Restrict Exercise of Prosecutorial Discretion to Domestic Considerations

With the exception of cases involving extradition, which necessarily involve negotiations with foreign governments, the DOJ's prosecutorial decisions should not be affected by U.S. interests relating to foreign governments. Given the possibility of mixed purposes in a case involving the prosecution of a foreign national, Congress should restrict federal prosecutorial discretion to domestic considerations and thus forbid trade-offs based on foreign relations.

The DOJ's discussions with Australia, for example, may have matured into a cooperation agreement that reportedly also involved the U.S. in Australia's negotiations surrounding the release of hostages in a third country, Iran.¹⁷² Sometimes foreign governments also seek to influence criminal investigations inside the United States.

DOJ requests for assistance from a foreign nation and DOJ legal assistance to a foreign nation must not be politically motivated and fall squarely within applicable international treaty rights and obligations. Congressional oversight committees—the judiciary and intelligences committees of the House and Senate—should be informed of instances in which legal assistance is requested and given the reasons therefor.

Rule of Law Violations in Our Past and the Need for Accountability

Preserving and restoring the rule of law in a democracy requires us to confront illegal conduct that has occurred in prior administrations. Without transparency about the past, and accountability of individuals for their actions, illegal conduct undermining democratic norms is certain to recur in the future.

Such prosecutions of high-ranking officials were on display in the Watergate trials as well as the trial of Oliver North for the Iran-Contra scandal. Despite this precedent, the Obama administration made the unwise decision in 2009 not to investigate and prosecute officials from the George W. Bush administration who had been involved with the torture program. Thus, despite powerful evidence that the interrogation methods were torture, and violated criminal statutes against torture as well as U.S. treaty obligations, there were no prosecutions of any of the architects of the torture program, and very few prosecutions of anyone who engaged in torture.

If crimes were committed in the Trump administration, even by President Trump himself, those crimes should be investigated and prosecuted if the evidence warrants. These decisions should be made by career DOJ employees supervised by an independent counsel.

The CERL/Crew Working Group concluded that Donald Trump's attorney general compromised the interests of the United States and jeopardized our national security by failing to enforce the law evenhandedly and at a minimum, created the perception that the law was applied as a political tool to support the re-election of the former president. The recommendations set forth here and in our longer book chapter to follow will help to restore the independence and integrity of the DOJ and assure that such abuses never recur.

A Three-Step Approach to Money in Politics

By Richard Painter

Big money in politics remains a threat to American democracy after the presidency of Donald Trump as much as it was before.¹⁷³ Americans of all political views share a common abhorrence of the corruption inherent in our campaign finance system.¹⁷⁴

Although Russia contrived novel ways of interfering in our 2016 election on a relatively low budget through computer hacking and social media propaganda,¹⁷⁵ infusion of large amounts of cash into electioneering communications is the most prevalent way of influencing who wins American elections and of controlling decisions that winners of elections make in public office.¹⁷⁶

If we do not address this problem, our representative democracy will devolve into an oligarchy controlled by corporate wealth. Because of the global character of corporate wealth, this also means that we will *de facto* lose our independence as a nation.

This section proposes a three-step program for first minimizing, second disclosing, and third counterbalancing the influence that big money has on American elections.

Minimizing Big Money in Politics

The first objective is to keep as much of the big money out of our elections as possible. This is critically important not only to the health of our democracy but also to our national security. In a global economy, a considerable portion of corporate money is foreign money.¹⁷⁷ China alone has an enormous amount of concentrated corporate wealth, much of it connected to the families of leading officials of the ruling Communist Party.¹⁷⁸ Russia's economy is not as large as China's, but many of Russia's leading companies and billionaires are closely allied with Vladimir Putin, who already interfered in U.S. elections in 2016 and 2018.¹⁷⁹ The Middle East is another source of heavily concentrated corporate wealth.¹⁸⁰ Even on the domestic side, there is something fundamentally wrong with a political system that goes by the mantra of one dollar one vote instead of one person one vote. Middle- and lower-income voters who feel disenfranchised by such a system are likely to look to political demagogues for extreme ideological solutions.¹⁸¹ The ensuing cynicism and polarization can easily be the undoing of a representative democracy.

The Supreme Court needs to be persuaded to revisit its decision in *Citizens United v. Federal Election Commission*, that corporations and similar business entities are "people" entitled to a First Amendment right to inject limitless amounts of money into electioneering communications up to Election Day.¹⁸² The problem is that with a conservative majority now on the Supreme Court, reversal of the Court's holding in *Citizens United* is not likely.¹⁸³ Appointment of justices who understand the difference between corporate personhood and natural persons should be a priority, but it may take a while to build a consensus on the Court to overturn *Citizens United*.¹⁸⁴

Another approach is to enact campaign-finance-reform legislation that does not fly in the face of *Citizens United* and other Supreme Court case law. Dollar limits on contributions by an individual to any one candidate were upheld by the Supreme Court in *Buckley v. Valeo* (1976),¹⁸⁵ even though aggregate dollar limits on an individual's total campaign contributions were struck down in *McCutcheon v. FEC*. (2014).¹⁸⁶ Very low dollar limits on individual contributions also have been overturned by the Court.¹⁸⁷ Nonetheless, dollar limits that have withstood constitutional challenges should be enforced and enforcement efforts should be heightened to target illegal "straw donor" arrangements.¹⁸⁸

To the extent constitutionally permissible, political fundraising by lobbyists who solicit their clients for contributions should be restricted. Presently only disclosure of these aggregate campaign contributions is required, but there are no dollar limits on the aggregate.¹⁸⁹ However, these contributions from clients solicited by the lobbyist should be attributed to the lobbyist on the theory that the client contributions are really part of the consideration paid for the lobbyist's services. Lobbyists "bundle" these contributions in order to persuade lawmakers to give them what they want.¹⁹⁰ Lobbyists should be banned

entirely from fundraising for political candidates, or at a minimum, dollar limits should be imposed on the size of the "bundles" assembled by lobbyists.¹⁹¹

Also, the Court has not struck down limits on campaign contributions by foreign nationals, as the federal district court in Washington, D.C. has held that the First Amendment protections in Citizens United do not apply to electioneering expenditures by foreign entities.¹⁹² This holding was affirmed without an opinion by the Supreme Court. This means that for now at least, the Federal Election Commission (FEC) can tighten up on enforcement against electioneering expenditures by foreign nationals, and if new legislation is needed to facilitate enforcement, ask Congress to enact it.¹⁹³ Republicans and Democrats may disagree about which foreign nationals are trying to influence U.S. elections in favor of which candidates, but both parties can agree that foreign money in U.S. elections is not a good thing and should be regulated.¹⁹⁴

Another area for consideration is the tax treatment of 501c(4) civic groups¹⁹⁵ and the even more favorable tax treatment of 501c(3) nonprofit organizations.¹⁹⁶ 501c(4) civic groups today are used for a very different purposes than when this provision of the Internal Revenue Code was enacted and Congress should consider whether the favorable tax treatment of such organizations is warranted.¹⁹⁷ Currently, "contributions to 501c(4) organizations generally are not deductible as charitable contributions but may be deductible as trade or business expenses, if ordinary and necessary in the conduct of the taxpayer's business."198 This business-expense deduction should be reconsidered. 501c(3) nonprofit organizations receive even more favorable tax treatment including a tax deduction for donors and contributions from foundations that have been endowed with tax-free money.¹⁹⁹ Congress should consider limiting incometax and estate-tax deductions for contributions

and bequests to foundations as well as the size of deductible contributions to 501c(3) organizations. 501c(3) organizations that spend over 80 percent of their revenues on providing health care, education in an accredited K–12 school or university, or other basic social services could be exempted. The days when the Heritage Foundation, the Federalist Society, and the American Constitution Society get the same favorable tax treatment as donations to a soup kitchen should be over.

Political expenditures that cannot constitutionally be restricted should at least be disclosed. A more robust disclosure regime will go a long way toward helping the media and voters connect the dots.

Disclosing Big Money in Politics

Political expenditures that cannot constitutionally be restricted should at least be disclosed. A more robust disclosure regime will go a long way toward helping the media and voters connect the dots between persons and entities making political expenditures and the public officials who benefit from those expenditures.²⁰⁰

Contributors to super PACs are already disclosed, but there is insufficient information about the business entities behind these contributors.²⁰¹ The FEC needs to vigorously enforce the disclosure rules we already have, and Congress needs to enact new legislation that will make the actual sources of super-PAC funding more transparent. Another problem is that super PACs in the weeks before an election often spend large amounts of money that is borrowed from media vendors or others and then pay down their debt with contributions or transfers from other super PACs that are reported only after the election.²⁰² These loopholes in the reporting regime should be closed, for example by requiring super PACs to report anticipated expenditures as soon as they become definite (when a television advertising contract is signed, for example) as well as information about the super PACs' intended sources of funding to pay for them.

501c(4) organizations should be required to disclose the sources of their funding, particularly contributions over a certain dollar threshold. Currently such entities must identify in annual reports to the Internal Revenue Service (IRS) contributors of \$5,000 or more,²⁰³ but information identifying contributors is not publicly available.²⁰⁴ This information should be made publicly available.

Although 501c(3) "charitable" organizations under IRS rules may not support or oppose candidates in partisan elections, they may engage in issue advocacy.²⁰⁵ Issue advocacy, particularly immediately prior to an election, can have an impact similar to electioneering communications.²⁰⁶ The federal and state tax subsidy for 501c(3) organizations through tax deductions should be conditioned on more transparency. Tax deductions for 501c(3) contributions over a certain amount should be disallowed unless the identity of the donor is publicly disclosed. Foundations that contribute to 501c(3) organizations should be required to reveal the contribution on their Form 990 and not donate through donor-advised funds (e.g. Donors Trust) that allow donors to conceal their identity by using the fund as a conduit.207

Congress has considered requiring Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) rulemaking that would require all public companies (companies filing annual SEC Form 10-K) to disclose all expenditures on electioneering communications whether directly or through payments made to 501c(4) organizations, super PACs, or any other organizations that fund electioneering communications.²⁰⁸ Expenditures by public companies on "issue advocacy"—often a veiled form of electioneering communication²⁰⁹ should also be publicly disclosed. Furthermore, a public company should be required to submit to its shareholders for a proxy vote a proposal from a shareholder that the company ban or restrict electioneering expenditures.

Counterbalancing Big Money in Politics

The third step in campaign-finance reform is to bring more small donors in to counterbalance the influence of big money in politics. The more candidates depend upon smaller donors the more they can free themselves from the big donors and big spenders on electioneering communications who often want something in return.

I have proposed elsewhere²¹⁰ that every American taxpayer should get a \$200 tax credit for contributions to a political candidate(s) of the taxpayer's choice.²¹¹ Given the substantial amount of tax revenue collected from most Americans, it seems reasonable that the first \$200 should be allocated by the taxpayer to have a meaningful voice in choosing the elected officials who will decide how to spend the rest.²¹² This tax credit, if offered to 143 million taxpayers and used by 100 million taxpayers, could cost the government \$20 billion every two-year election cycle. However, the tax credit would probably reduce the size of the federal budget,²¹³ keeping in mind that the annual federal budget is around \$4 trillion²¹⁴ and the defense budget alone is over \$700 billion.²¹⁵ Defense and other federal expenditures are heavily influenced by political spending of federal contractors including the defense industry.²¹⁶ Making elected officials less dependent upon these contributions could go a long way toward cutting government waste.

The more candidates depend upon smaller donors the more they can free themselves from the big donors and big spenders on electioneering communications who often want something in return.

Protecting American democracy from internal decay and foreign influence requires a reassessment of the role of money in our campaign-finance system. The President, Congress, and the Federal Election Commission should work together to find ways to minimize, disclose to the public, and counterbalance the influence that big money has on our elections.

The Role of Transparency In a New Administration

By Anne Weismann

Any proposals on how to restore the presidency and our democracy post-Trump focus on actions Congress and a new administration can take.²¹⁷ But they ignore a key component: the American public. Rather than give in to the cynicism that contributed to the rise of Donald Trump, citizens must play a prominent role in reinstating norms, a role that does not end at the ballot box. First, however, Congress must arm citizens with the necessary tools for transparency: a FOIA law that works, recordkeeping laws that ensure the preservation of our nation's history, and access to a wealth of reliable data.

The actions of the Trump administration revealed the critical role that an open government plays in countering attacks on the foundations of our government.²¹⁸ Far from an abstract concept, transparency represents a structural necessity that allows the public to hold government officials accountable and enables full public participation in our democracy. The Biden administration faces the daunting task of repairing breaches in mechanisms designed to provide transparency²¹⁹ and taking affirmative steps to fulfill the promise of open government in statutes like the Freedom of Information Act. Both the message and the medium comprise an essential part of any plan to restore and reinforce government accountability. The new president must embrace transparency as a core value and reinforce that message with concrete actions. These include proactively releasing high-value information, revising classification policies and procedures to counter the problem of over-classification, and improving the quality and usability of data.

At the same time, the new administration will face calls to take actions that hold the Trump administration accountable. A growing chorus of individuals and groups, acting on the well-founded belief that our nation cannot move forward without understanding its past, already has called for some kind of truth-in-reconciliation process to fully examine the conduct of the Trump administration and provide a mechanism for accountability.²²⁰ Others suggest the cost of a truth tribunal is too high, as it undermines our democratic tradition of ending an election with a winner and a loser and moving on from there. Jill Lepore, for example, advocates instead for "the ordinary working of justice, the strengthening of democratic institutions and the writing of history over time, through the study of carefully preserved records."221 Despite daylight between these approaches, they both recognize that we must assemble and preserve the record of the Trump presidency. For that, we can look to FOIA requests as the best barometer of those documents likely to be most useful in evaluating the Trump presidency.

During the Trump administration the number of new FOIA requests soared.²²² A wide range of requesters

used the statute to determine what the Trump administration was doing and why. Some requesters were laser-focused on a specific subset of documents, while others sought to vacuum up all documents on a policy or action. Whatever their approach, they shared the view that knowing what the Trump administration was doing and why was critical to holding it accountable now and in the future. FOIA litigation also spiked. In October 2015, the FOIA Project reported an average of 44 new cases per month for the preceding year; four years later the average had risen to 73.²²³

These Trump-era requests, particularly those in litigation, provide a roadmap for identifying the information most revealing of the actions of the Trump administration. Accordingly, the new administration should start with a pledge to disgorge publicly all of the Trump administration documents requested through FOIA, starting with those requests in active litigation, and limiting redactions to classified and personal information. The requesters can best mine the documents for useful information and place it in a larger context. This approach, as a form of crowdsourcing, would capitalize on the expertise and work already done by a large number of FOIA requesters and expand that group to the public at large.

No previous administration has made such a bold and encompassing commitment to transparency, but no previous administration has faced the need to reconstruct our democracy by restoring and building anew the norms and rules of law that the Trump administration batted away. That reconstruction depends on understanding what happened and why; a nation that cannot remember and understand its past is, in the words of George Santayana, "condemned to repeat it."²²⁴ Only by leveraging the tools of transparency can we hope to strengthen the norms that failed in the Trump era to rein in the president's most autocratic and antidemocratic impulses. The new administration should take additional steps to ferret out evidence of misconduct or worse in the Trump administration. They should conduct an audit, or request that Congress direct the Government Accountability Office to conduct an audit, of all federal funds paid to Trump businesses. A large part of President Trump's graft and corruption stemmed from his efforts to use the power of his office for his and his family's personal enrichment, whether it was advocating for the G7 Conference to be held at one of his struggling golf resorts in Florida or the 41 trademarks that China fast-tracked for companies linked to Ivanka Trump right after she joined

> No previous administration has made such a bold and encompassing commitment to transparency, but no previous administration has faced the need to reconstruct our democracy.

the White House.²²⁵ According to the *Washington Post*, the president's businesses received at least \$8.1 million dollars from U.S. taxpayers and political supporters during his term in office,²²⁶ while the president repeatedly accepted emoluments in the form of payments to his businesses by foreign governments, despite the constitutional prohibition against this conduct. Profits at his Washington, D.C. hotel alone exceeded \$40 million in 2018, with at least part of that money paid by foreign governments, lobbyists, and state officials seeking to curry favor with the president.²²⁷ At the same time, the Trump administration thwarted efforts to ascertain the full scope of the president's corruption with both Congress and the public.²²⁸ The new administration must also support major FOIA reforms and commit to a radically different level of transparency in its own actions. The last four years have revealed the full extent to which the FOIA is broken.²²⁹ Repudiating the FOIA's guiding principle of disclosure agencies have made compliance with their FOIA obligations the lowest of priorities.²³⁰ Problems with the FOIA have been mounting steadily over the last decade, but the outcry for documents explaining the actions and policies of the Trump administration exposed the statute's serious shortcomings at a time when the public needed maximum transparency and quick access to critical information that literally was the difference between life and death.²³¹

On paper the FOIA holds great promise, but it has rarely lived up to that promise. Its command for a 20-business-day response remains elusive; many agencies rarely respond within two months, and for some the wait exceeds years, not days.232 Congress provided expedition as a means to guickly secure documents when the need is particularly acute or the public interest especially compelling, yet time-sensitive requests offer no guarantee of a much shorter response time.233 Agencies wrongly apply and over-rely on the FOIA's nine exemptions, especially to withhold records that would reveal the flaws in an agency policy.²³⁴ And during the Trump administration many agency officials exercised undue political influence over their FOIA processes, tainting the results and depriving the media and good-government groups-their perceived "enemies"—of critical information.235

To restore the statute's promise of government accountability through transparency the FOIA and FOIA processing must undergo a fundamental overhaul. The government must shift from a culture of secrecy and withholding to one of disclosure. The new attorney general should direct agencies not to rely on discretionary FOIA exemptions, such as Exemption 5, which protects documents subject to litigation privileges, except in the most limited of cases where the need for secrecy overwhelmingly outweighs the public interest. Agencies must devote significant and sufficient resources to ensure timely processing of requests. This will require Congress to appropriate additional resources, including through a separate budget line item to ensure agencies do not divert those funds to other uses. Agencies must treat the FOIA as mission critical, not a responsibility that can be readily abandoned when meeting its requirements becomes politically inconvenient. All of these represent policy choices that an administration can make without any legislative action.

To reinforce his commitment to transparency, President Biden must revert to the policy implemented by the Obama administration to provide public access to White House visitor logs, and expand that access to logs of visits to other locations the president frequents or where White House officials conduct business.²³⁶ Cloaking the White House in a veil of secrecy fundamentally conflicts with an agenda that fosters openness and recognizes the public's right to know. Every agency should adopt a robust proactive disclosure policy that includes agency visitor logs and other frequently requested documents.

The Department of Justice should publish all Office of Legal Counsel opinions, subject to redactions only for classified or personal information and excluding purely legal advice it provides to the president or attorney general. The D.C. Circuit has described OLC as "[f]or decades ... the most significant and centralized source of legal advice in the Executive Branch."²³⁷ Despite its prominent role in providing interpretations of law that bind the executive branch, OLC historically has kept its opinions secret unless disclosure is politically expedient.²³⁸ An office not known for its political independence, OLC during the Trump administration provided the president with justifications for some of his most autocratic tendencies and his administration's most heinous policies. For example, a May 2019 OLC opinion claimed White House advisors had "absolute immunity" from testifying in the impeachment inquiry,²³⁹ while a June 2019 OLC opinion justified Treasury Secretary Mnuchin's refusal to turn over President Trump's tax returns to Congressional committees authorized by statute to request such returns.²⁴⁰ A January 2017 OLC opinion blessed President Trump's executive order banning immigrants and refugees from several Muslim-majority countries.²⁴¹ This governance by secret law undermines our democracy, which functions best in the sunlight.

Efforts to assemble and digest the history of the Trump presidency can succeed only if the administration fulfills its recordkeeping obligations under the Federal Records Act (FRA) and the Presidential Records Act (PRA). On both fronts the Trump administration failed. From early on President Trump showed his disregard, if not outright contempt for his recordkeeping obligations by ripping up his notes and insisting that no notetakers be present for some of his most consequential meetings with foreign leaders.²⁴² Because the courts have interpreted the PRA as giving presidents almost unreviewable discretion in how they implement the statute, we face a very real risk that President Trump not only failed to create, but also destroyed large numbers of his documents, fearing the personal consequences to him should they become public.²⁴³ Congress must amend the statute to guard against this risk and protect records that belong to the American public. Among needed reforms, Congress should impose on the White House a periodic reporting requirement to Congress and the Archivist of the United States concerning its compliance with recordkeeping statutes as a way to guard against systemic noncompliance.

If we are to fulfill Abraham Lincoln's dream of a "government of the people, by the people, and for the people," we must provide the public with the necessary tools for participatory democracy. Most prominent among them are statutes like the FOIA, the FRA, and the PRA. But these modes of transparency will be useful only if the new administration full-throatedly embraces the twin goals of transparency and accountability.

International Ethics and Rule of Law Issues

By Norman Eisen and Joseph Foti

Any approach to ethics reform at home will benefit from coordination with international efforts. Such an approach will need to move on several fronts simultaneously.

- 1. Carrying out comprehensive domestic reform around democracy, ethics, and rule of law;
- Promoting rule of law abroad through exchange, support, and cooperation;
- 3. Enhancing law enforcement and accountability for violations of human rights and corruption.

Done well, such an approach could lead to mutually reinforcing outcomes—with international attention raising recognition and expectation for domestic reform, and with domestic reform helping to restore U.S. credibility and democracy promotion abroad.

Fortunately, there is no need to reinvent the wheel. The Biden-Harris administration can recommit to and double down on existing multilateral efforts that continued despite the United States' fouryear retreat from multilateralism.²⁴⁴ These include two multi-stakeholder partnerships—the Open Government Partnership²⁴⁵ and the Extractive Industries Transparency Initiative.²⁴⁶ In addition, there will be critical moments across the year to re-engage other country governments, to showcase domestic reforms, and to learn from other countries.

The Open Government Partnership

In 2011, the Obama-Biden administration founded OGP with leaders from seven other major democracies and civil society from around the world.247 It has since grown to 78 nations and a rapidly growing cohort of cities and local governments.²⁴⁸ Working with civil society, these governments have collectively committed to over 4,000 reforms through independently reviewed two-year action plans to strengthen transparency, participation, and accountability.249 One in five of the reforms evaluated have been evaluated as profoundly changing government practice, such as helping to reduce corruption and giving citizens a stronger voice in government.²⁵⁰ OGP brings added international visibility and accountability for domestic reforms with an independent reporting mechanism and structured exchanges to learn across borders.²⁵¹

A renewed commitment to OGP will work best with investment in both domestic and international processes. During the Obama-Biden administration, the U.S. used its action plan for major reform ranging from protecting national-security whistleblowers, improving access to justice,²⁵² enhancing procurement reform in the American Recovery and Reinvestment Act,²⁵³ and establishing the highly successful Police Data Initiative.²⁵⁴ At the same time, OGP's Independent Reporting Mechanism documented underinvestment in ethics and democracy reform as well as under-engagement with the legislative branch.²⁵⁵

Now is an excellent time to reinvest in these critical areas. What were stress cracks during the Obama administration became fault lines during that of Trump. OGP can serve as a critical means of implementation, as a vessel for regulation and administrative reform stemming from anti-corruption legislation with the passage of the 2021 National Defense Reauthorization Act²⁵⁶ and any potential changes coming from H.R. 1/H.R. 4.257 In the absence of legislation, OGP also succeeds as a proving ground for bold new ideas-whether that is developing politically exposed persons databases, restricting money in politics, or moving to limit illicit financial flows to the United States.²⁵⁸ Importantly, these recommendations should emerge from the dialogue between the users-watchdog organizations, journalists, civic organizations-and the various agencies with equity in improving ethics, democracy, and rule of law. Importantly, because OGP is a large-tent organization-with its membership using good-governance approaches to tackle any number of problems from homelessness to organized crime and from education policy to civil liberties-it creates a structure within which the White House can encourage agencies to engage with international partners and to innovate.²⁵⁹ While it may lack the standard-setting aspirations of a treaty-based organization, it allows for adaptation and innovation across regions of the world. In 2021, more than 100 OGP members will design and submit their new action plans and the organization will celebrate its tenth anniversary in Seoul.260

The Extractive Industries Transparency Initiative

EITI is a 53-member global multi-stakeholder initiative that seeks to address these phenomena with cooperation from governments, civil society, and major extractive companies.²⁶¹ EITI aims to make revenue payments along the entire natural resource value chain more transparent to lower corruption, raise domestic revenue, and improve the quality of investment.²⁶² Unlike OGP, it is primarily a standard-setting body, with validation of its members' transparency for oil, gas, mining, and other extractive industries.²⁶³ The United States committed to joining in 2011 and withdrew in 2017, moving from being an "implementing country" to a "supporting country."²⁶⁴

> Such an approach could lead to mutually reinforcing outcomes with international attention raising recognition and expectation for domestic reform, and with domestic reform helping to restore U.S. credibility and democracy promotion abroad.

Since the U.S. withdrawal, EITI has expanded beyond a narrow focus of publishing resource revenue to cover contract disclosure, resource production, environmental payments, and employment data.²⁶⁵ This may mean that, should the United States rejoin EITI, the Department of Interior (the lead agency for EITI) will need to re-establish the federal advisory committee it established in 2012 and commit to an even more ambitious set of reforms.²⁶⁶ In addition, the United States will need to re-examine the severely delayed rollout of regulations for Section 1504 (the Extractive Industries Transparency Act) of the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act (2010).²⁶⁷ The law obligates publicly traded extractives corporations to disclose revenue reporting.²⁶⁸ The SEC, tasked with implementing the law, has delayed publication of the final regulation and early drafts of the current form are riddled with loopholes—anonymous reporting by companies and no disaggregation below the country level—that would green light continued corruption in some of the world's poorest or most oppressive countries. A new SEC chair may be able to build on dissents from the two commissioners opposed to the current draft.²⁶⁹

To restore U.S. credibility in this area, the United States will need to demonstrate leadership in domestic implementation and ensure that its own markets do not encourage kleptocracy abroad.

International Democracy and Rule-of-Law Forums

The U.S. has a number of high-visibility opportunities to promote and leverage its values—proving that "America is back" not only through speech, but also through a bold package of credible domestic reforms. Chief among these opportunities is the so-called "Biden Summit for Democracy."

The proposed summit²⁷⁰ will necessarily need to have a "thick definition" of democracy—one that includes elections, but also goes further by embracing human rights, rule of law, and fighting corruption. A U.S.-hosted 2021 Summit for Democracy could include political advocacy for policies such as enhanced support to civil society in emerging democracies, beneficial-ownership transparency, and digital-governance reforms to combat disinformation and undermining of democracy online. Many such summits can be overly focused on definitions of democracy, lists of attendees, international declarations, or establishing new organizations. Rather than spend precious diplomatic resources on these issues, such a summit could instead focus on credible implementation for democracy, ethics, and rule of law. Multi-stakeholder partnerships such as OGP can provide the scaffolding and infrastructure for design, as well as the follow-up and implementation of commitments made on the international stage.

Of course, the Summit for Democracy will not be the only opportunity for reform. A litany of other events will have some focus on good governance. In particular, the G7, led by the United Kingdom, will focus on controlling kleptocracy and improving open societies.²⁷¹ At a time when there will be significant motivation to strengthen the U.S.-UK relationship, this provides a good occasion to reiterate shared commitments to democracy and rule of law. There are numerous opportunities for multilateralism on this topic, including the G20 and the Special Session of the UN General Assembly, which will focus on the international drug trade.²⁷² Finally, there will be room for enhanced cooperation on specific thematic topics ranging from enforcing and harmonizing the EU, U.S., and Global Magnitsky Acts,²⁷³ transatlantic harmonization of lobbying regulations,²⁷⁴ regional and global enhancement of beneficial-ownership reporting standards,²⁷⁵ and other critical democracy and law-enforcement areas.

Regardless of the specific steps taken, success internationally, more than ever, will depend not just on what the United States claims to stand for, but also what it is willing to do to repair its image as a beacon of liberal democracy and rule of law.

Conclusion

A merica has always aspired to an office of the presidency guided by the public trust,²⁷⁶ which should dictate the conduct of the president and his appointees. President Trump compromised and nullified this fundamental principle by retaining business interests in pursuit of personal wealth,²⁷⁷ which made him vulnerable to corruption,²⁷⁸ and seeking or obtaining assistance from foreign governments to influence the outcome of presidential elections to further his partisan political interests.²⁷⁹

While the fight against corruption is an ongoing process that ebbs and flows in the best of times, the assault on integrity by the Trump administration may have been the worst in our nation's modern history. Leadership at the Department of Justice failed to uphold the rule of law and maintain its independence, opting instead to use the agency's vast powers to further the president's personal and partisan political interests.²⁸⁰ The current campaign-finance system, supported by volumes of cash from special interests whose identities are oftentimes shielded from public disclosure,²⁸¹ not only distorted the system of checks and balances established by our Framers, but contributed to a corrosion of public trust.²⁸² Trump's incessant tweeting and plethora of public lies,²⁸³ reinforced by a powerful media propaganda machine,²⁸⁴ left the true operations of the federal government virtually impenetrable from traditional means of public access such as the FOIA and meaningful

Congressional oversight, both of which were met regularly with overwhelming resistance.²⁸⁵

The excesses of the Trump administration only made more evident what was already apparent to ethics experts—meaningful reform is long overdue. Executive-branch ethics laws enacted during the Watergate era have not kept up with the evolving nature of financial investments and outside influences.

Within days of his election, Trump announced that as president, he could not have conflicts of interest.286 This statement not only put him at odds with longstanding ethical norms that governed the conduct of his predecessors but forewarned of many ethical transgressions yet to come. Trump's failure to divest his business interests allowed him to profit from his companies' business dealings with foreign, federal, and domestic governments in violation of the U.S. Constitution, as well as from the corrupt influences of special interests and other groups.287 If the failure to divest his business interest in the Trump Organization was his original sin, his decision to appoint his son-in-law and daughter to senior White House positions was a close second.²⁸⁸ To help prevent similar abuses in the future, Congress should enact laws that prohibit future presidents from sharing in profits derived from business dealings with foreign, federal, and domestic governments

or special-interest groups; mandate disclosure of presidential tax returns; and ensure the president is covered by the criminal conflict-of-interest law and restrictions on nepotism.

Additional needed reforms focus on raising the floor or shoring up gaps in the existing framework for executive branch ethics, including by establishing a range of divestitures for "very senior employees" and "senior employees" whose authority poses heightened risks of conflicts of interests.²⁸⁹ To mitigate the financial impact of the proposed new mandatory divestitures, Congress should authorize a new type of blind-managed account that, like blind trusts, would be exempt from the conflict-of-interest statute. Congress can significantly reduce the risk of outside influence by enacting restrictions that prohibit or restrict the types of payments the employer of an incoming official can make.

Congress should supplement the criminal laws with an additional noncriminal conflict-of-interest law that has a broader reach, lighter penalties, and an effective administrative mechanism for enforcement that would, as a noncriminal statute, likely lead to greater enforcement. Additional reforms should protect the independence of inspectors general and whistleblowers from possible retaliation.

The 2016 general election showed that foreign powers can reach the American people and influence opinions with the potential to control the outcome of our elections and other democratic processes.²⁹⁰ Other countries have learned from Russia's efforts and have mounted sophisticated cyber campaigns that display an evolving understanding of the power of social media and the vulnerabilities of cyber defenses.²⁹¹ Democratic nations, with their robust traditions of free speech, are particularly subject to attack via open-internet platforms. These threats necessitate reform of the Foreign Agents Registration Act²⁹² to strengthen its enforcement, tighten its exemptions, and improve the ability of FARA to deal with the challenges posed by foreign agent registration in today's global climate.

Although most evident during the Trump administration, our experience with the DOJ since the Nixon administration raised concerns of politicization.²⁹³ To restore the DOJ's independence from partisan politics and assure its commitment to the rule of law, this report incorporates several recommendations from those included in the CERL/CREW report.²⁹⁴ The proposals would strengthen the independence of the special counsel, U.S. attorneys, inspectors general, and career DOJ attorneys and likewise restore independence to the intelligence community. To ensure greater accountability, Congress should use its power of the purse and transfer some of the oversight responsibility from the Office of Professional Responsibility to the DOJ inspector general.

Although Russia contrived novel ways of interfering in our 2016 election on a relatively low budget through computer hacking and social media propaganda,²⁹⁵ infusion of large amounts of cash into electioneering communications remains the most prevalent way of influencing who wins American elections and of controlling decisions that winners of elections make once in public office.²⁹⁶ If we do not enhance disclosure requirements, limit donations, and counterbalance the influence of big money, our representative democracy will devolve into an oligarchy controlled by corporate wealth.

Rather than give in to the cynicism that contributed to the rise of Donald Trump, citizens must play a prominent role in reinstating norms. To do so, Congress must arm citizens with the necessary tools for transparency: a FOIA law that works, recordkeeping laws that ensure the preservation of our nation's history, and access to a wealth of data ranging from accurate and current ethics information on public officials to reliable scientific data. An informed democracy demands the public be equipped with the necessary tools and for its elected officials to full-throatedly embrace the twin goals of transparency and accountability.

Though sorely tested, our democratic institutions have survived the unprecedented challenges of a Trump presidency. The newly elected president presents us with the opportunity to restore the public trust through meaningful reform.

About the Authors

Ambassador Norman Eisen (ret.) is a senior fellow in Governance Studies at Brookings and an expert on law, ethics, and anti-corruption. He most recently served as special counsel to the House Judiciary Committee from 2019 to 2020, including for the impeachment and trial of President Trump, and was a "critical force in building the case for impeachment" (Washington Post). His book about his service, A Case for the American People: The United States v. Donald J. Trump (Crown 2020), was praised as "tantalizing" (New York Times), "compelling," (Washington Post), and as "an important piece of the historical record" (Mother Jones). Eisen is also the author of The Last Palace: Europe's Turbulent Century in Five Lives and One Legendary House (Crown 2018) and Democracy's Defenders: U.S. Embassy Prague, The Fall of Communism in Czechoslovakia, and Its Aftermath (Brookings Institution Press 2020). From January 2009 to January 2011, Eisen worked in the White House as special counsel and special assistant to the president for ethics and government reform. The press dubbed him "Mr. No" and the "Ethics Czar" for his tough anti-corruption approach. He also advised President Obama on lobbying regulation, campaign finance law, and open government issues, helping to assure the most scandal-free White House in modern history. From 2011 to 2014, Eisen was U.S. Ambassador to the Czech Republic. Before government service, Eisen was a partner in

the D.C. law firm Zuckerman Spaeder LLP, where he specialized in litigation and investigations. His cases included Enron, the ADM antitrust case, the subprime financial collapse, the Monica Lewinsky matter, and the 2000 and 2004 presidential recounts. He was named one of DC's top lawyers by Washingtonian. Eisen received his J.D. from Harvard Law School in 1991 and his B.A. from Brown University in 1985, both with honors.

Virginia Canter is the chief ethics counsel for Citizens for Responsibility and Ethics in Washington (CREW), a nonpartisan organization dedicated to promoting government ethics and accountability. Ms. Canter joined CREW in 2016 after a career in public service, most recently with the Department of the Treasury's Office of General Counsel, which she rejoined in 2015 after serving as the ethics advisor to the International Monetary Fund (2010-2015); associate counsel to President Obama (2009-2010); and ethics counsel to the Obama-Biden Presidential Transition (2008–2009). Ms. Canter served in the Obama administration and Transition while on detail from her position as associate director for the Office of Foreign Assets Control at the Department of the Treasury (2005–2010). Ms. Canter previously served as senior counsel for ethics at the Department of the Treasury (2001–2005), general counsel for the National Endowment for the Humanities (1998–2001), deputy counsel to Vice President Gore (2000–2001), associate counsel to President Clinton (1997–1998), and assistant ethics counsel to the Securities and Exchange Commission (1990–1997). She also served ex officio as counsel to the Federal Council on the Arts and Humanities (1998–2001). Earlier in her career, Ms. Canter was a government contracts lawyer serving as attorney-advisor to the Securities and Exchange Commission (1987–1990) and the Naval Sea Systems Command, Department of the Navy (1984–1987). Ms. Canter received her B.A. and J.D. from the University of Baltimore and is a member of the Maryland State Bar.

Claire Finkelstein is the Algernon Biddle Professor of Law and Professor of Philosophy at the University of Pennsylvania, teaching there since 2000, and director of the University's Center for Ethics and the Rule of Law. Professor Finkelstein's current research addresses national security law and policy, with a focus on ethical and rule of law issues that arise in that arena. In 2012, Professor Finkelstein founded Penn Law's Center for Ethics and the Rule of Law (CERL), a nonpartisan interdisciplinary institute that seeks to promote the rule of law in modern-day conflict, warfare, and national security. Before she began teaching in Philadelphia, she was a tenured professor of law at the University of California, Berkeley. In 2019, she was named senior fellow at the Foreign Policy Research Institute (FPRI). An expert in the law of armed conflict, military ethics, and national security law, she is a co-editor (with Jens David Ohlin) of The Oxford Series in Ethics, National Security, and the Rule of Law, and a volume editor of its four titles thus far: Targeted Killings: Law & Morality in an Asymmetrical World (Oxford University

Press 2012); Cyber War: Law and Ethics for Virtual Conflicts (Oxford University Press 2015); Weighing Lives in War (Oxford University Press 2017); and Sovereignty and the New Executive Authority (Oxford University Press 2018). Professor Finkelstein has briefed Pentagon officials, U.S. Senate staff, and JAG Corps members on various issues in national security law and practice. Her prior scholarly work focuses on criminal law theory, moral and political philosophy, jurisprudence, and rational choice theory. She is also the editor of Hobbes on Law (Ashgate Publishing 2005) and is currently completing a book called Contractarian Legal Theory.

Joseph Foti is the chief research officer of the Open Government Partnership (OGP). He leads the Analytics and Insights team which is responsible for major research initiatives, managing OGP's significant data resources, and ensuring the highest quality of analysis and relevance in OGP publications. He has over a decade leading research and accountability efforts across a range of sustainable development issues. With over 30 publications to his name, he has expertise in environmental policy, impact assessment, justice reform, civic space, and access to information. His most recent major work was as the chief editor of OGP's first global report, Democracy Beyond the Ballot Box. Before his current role, he was the founding director of OGP's Independent Reporting Mechanism, which evaluates Open Government Action plans in nearly 80 countries. Prior to his work at OGP, he was a senior associate for the Access Initiative, a network led by the World Resources Institute (WRI). Prior to this, he worked as a public school teacher.

Richard W. Painter has been the S. Walter Richey Professor of Corporate Law at the University of Minnesota Law School since 2007. He has served as a tenured member of the law faculty at the University of Oregon School of Law and the University of Illinois College of Law, where he was the Guy Raymond and Mildred Van Voorhis Jones Professor of Law until 2005. From February 2005 to July 2007, he was associate counsel to the President in the White House Counsel's office, serving as the chief ethics lawyer for the President. He is a member of the American Law Institute and is a reporter for the ALI Principles of Government Ethics. He was vice chair of Citizens for Responsibility and Ethics in Washington (CREW) from 2016 to 2018 and a founding board member of Take Back our Republic, a campaign finance reform organization. He is also on the Board of Advisors of the Center for Ethics and the Rule of Law at the University of Pennsylvania. From 2014 to 2015 he was a residential fellow at Harvard University's Safra Center for Ethics, which funded his work on a book, Taxation only with Representation: The Conservative Conscience and Campaign Finance Reform (Take Back our Republic 2016). He received his B.A., summa cum laude, in history from Harvard University and his J.D. from Yale University. Following law school, he clerked for Judge John T. Noonan Jr. of the United States Court of Appeals for the 9th Circuit with whom he coauthored three editions of a professional responsibility casebook. He later practiced at Sullivan & Cromwell in New York City and Finn Dixon & Herling in Stamford, Connecticut before entering law teaching in 1993.

Walter Shaub is a senior ethics fellow at the Project on Government Oversight (POGO). Shaub served as the Senate-confirmed director of the U.S. Office of Government Ethics (OGE) from January 2013 until July 2017. The OGE director position also entailed ex officio roles on the Council of the Inspectors General on Integrity and Efficiency (CIGIE) and CIGIE's Integrity Committee. Mr. Shaub served at OGE for a total of nearly 14 years as attorney, supervisory attorney, deputy general counsel, and director. He also served in the General Counsel offices of the Department of Health & Human Services and the Department of Veterans Affairs. Outside government, he has worked for POGO; Citizens for Responsibility and Ethics in Washington; the Campaign Legal Center; the law firm of Shaw, Bransford, Veilleux & Roth; and CNN (as a contract contributor). In 2020, he delivered the Elson Ethics Lecture for the St. George's House Trust of Windsor Castle in the United Kingdom; in 2019, he received the Paul H. Douglas Award for Ethics in Government from the University of Illinois System; in 2018, he received the Nesta Gallas Award for Exemplary Professional Service in Public Service from the American Society for Public Administration and a Distinguished Alumnus Award from the James Madison University. Mr. Shaub is licensed to practice law in the District of Columbia and Virginia. He graduated with a J.D. from American University's Washington College of Law and a B.A. in History from James Madison University.

Anne Weismann served as chief counsel and chief FOIA counsel for Citizens for Responsibility and Ethics in Washington (CREW), a nonprofit organization committed to identifying, analyzing, and deterring unethical government conduct. On behalf of CREW, Ms. Weismann has handled a wide range of high-profile litigation from lawsuits seeking public access to White House visitor records and opinions of the Office of Legal Counsel to a lawsuit seeking to compel President Trump to comply with his recordkeeping obligations under the Presidential Records Act. She previously served as the executive director of Campaign for Accountability, a nonprofit organization that uses research, litigation, and communication to hold those who act at the expense of the public accountable for their actions. Before entering the nonprofit arena, Ms. Weismann served as the deputy chief of the Enforcement Bureau for the Federal Communications Commission and as an assistant branch director at the Department of Justice, where she oversaw the Department's government information litigation. Ms. Weismann has received numerous honors for her transparency work and is a frequent lecturer on transparency and ethics issues. She received her B.A., magna cum laude, from Brown University and her J.D. from George Washington Law School.

Endnotes

- 1 Joseph R. Biden Jr., "Executive Order on Ethics Commitments by Executive Branch Personnel," The White House, January 20, 2021, https://www.whitehouse.gov/briefing-room/ presidential-actions/2021/01/20/executive-order-ethics-commitments-by-executive-branch-personnel/.
- 2 The following paragraphs are heavily adapted from a recent op-ed written by the editor for *Politico*. See, Norman Eisen, "I Wrote President Obama's Ethics Plan–Biden's Is Better," *Politico*, January 19, 2021, https://www.politico.com/news/magazine/2021/01/19/ biden-white-house-ethics-plan-460472.
- 3 For a detailed comparison of the executive orders on ethics issued by past administrations from Clinton to Biden, see: "Comparing Ethics Orders: Biden's Is On Top, But It Could Be Stronger," Project on Government Oversight, January 28, 2021, <u>https://www.pogo.org/ resource/2021/01/comparing-ethics-orders-bidensis-on-top-but-it-could-be-stronger/?utm_source=pogofacebook&utm_medium=social&utm_campaign=governance&utm_term=link&utm_content=live.</u>
- 4 Sam Berger, Alex Tausanovitch, "Lessons From Watergate," Center for American Progress, July 30, 2018, https://www.americanprogress.org/issues/democracy/ reports/2018/07/30/454058/lessons-from-watergate/.
- Linnaea Honl-Stuenkel, Lauren White, "Trump's War on 5 accountability started with his tax returns. It's gotten worse ever since," Citizens for Responsibility and Ethics in Washington (CREW), April 22, 2020, https:// www.citizensforethics.org/reports-investigations/ crew-investigations/trump-war-accountability-timeline/; Edward J. Larson, "Trump isn't first president to abuse the Constitution, but he's gone so far we need a reckoning," USA Today, September 17, 2020, https:// www.usatoday.com/story/opinion/2020/09/17/ constitution-day-trump-era-abuses-failures-require-reckoning-column/5817963002/; Sam Berger, "How a Future President Can Hold the Trump Administration Accountable," Center for American Progress, August 5, 2020, https://www.americanprogress.org/issues/ democracy/reports/2020/08/05/488773/future-president-can-hold-trump-administration-accountable/.

- 6 Andy Sullivan, Emily Stephenson, Steve Holland, "Trump says won't divest from his business while president," *Reuters*, January 11, 2017, <u>https://www.reuters.com/</u> article/us-usa-trump-finance/trump-says-wont-divestfrom-his-business-while-president-idUSKBN14V21I.
- 7 Ibid.
- 8 Ibid.
- 9 Jeremy Venook, "Trump's Interests vs. America's, Dubai Edition," *The Atlantic*, August 9, 2017, <u>https://</u> www.theatlantic.com/business/archive/2017/08/ donald-trump-conflicts-of-interests/508382/; Mike McIntire, Russ Buettner, Susanne Craig, "Trump Records Shed New Light on Chinese Business Pursuits," *New York Times*, October 20, 2020, <u>https://www.nytimes.com/2020/10/20/</u> us/trump-taxes-china.html; Alexandra Berzon, "Trump's Foreign Business Entanglements Would Create Unparalleled Conflicts," *Wall Street Journal*, November 2, 2016, <u>https://www.wsj.com/articles/</u> trumps-foreign-business-entanglements-would-create-unparalleled-conflicts-1478083150.
- 10 CREW Research Team, "President Trump's 2019 financial disclosure: CREW's analysis," CREW, May 23, 2019, https://www.citizensforethics.org/ reports-investigations/crew-investigations/president-trumps-2019-financial-disclosure-crews-analysis/; "Presidential profiteering: Trump's conflicts got worse in year two," CREW, January 16, 2019, https://www.citizensforethics.org/reports-investigations/crew-reports/ presidential-profiteering-trumps-conflicts-got-worse-inyear-two/; Zachary Cohen, Alex Marquardt, "Revelations on Trump's tax returns stoke long-held national security concerns," CNN, September 29, 2020, https://www.cnn. com/2020/09/28/politics/trump-finances-national-security-concerns/index.html. The editor is the cofounder and former chair of CREW, and a number of the authors have been associated with it.

- 11 Rebecca Jacobs, "Trump company received new trademark from Argentina," *CREW*, September 4, 2020, <u>https://www.citizensforethics.org/</u> <u>reports-investigations/crew-investigations/trump-company-received-new-trademark-from-argentina/;</u> "Tracking President Trump's unprecedented conflicts of interest," *CREW*, October 21, 2019, <u>https://www.citizensforethics.org/reports-investigations/crew-reports/ tracking-president-trumps-unprecedented-conflicts-of-interest/.</u>
- 12 Dan Mangan, "Trump wins appeal in case where Democrats sued him for allegedly violating emoluments clause," *CNBC*, February 7, 2020, <u>https://www. cnbc.com/2020/02/07/trump-wins-appeal-of-emoluments-clause-lawsuit-by-democrats.html</u>. The editor of this paper was part of the legal team that litigated two emoluments cases against the president.
- 13 Josh Gerstein, "DOJ releases overruled memos finding it illegal for presidents to appoint relatives," *Politico*, October 3, 2017, <u>https://www.politico.com/</u> <u>story/2017/10/03/justice-department-legal-mem-</u> <u>os-presidents-appoint-relatives-243395</u>; Michael S. Schmidt, "Jared Kushner, Trump's Son-in-Law, Is Cleared to Serve as Adviser," *New York Times*, January 21, 2017, <u>https://www.nytimes.com/2017/01/21/us/</u> <u>politics/donald-trump-jared-kushner-justice-department.html</u>.
- 14 "Nepotism and Conflicts of Interest–Jared Kushner and Ivanka Trump," CREW, April 25, 2017, <u>https://</u> www.citizensforethics.org/reports-investigations/ crew-reports/nepotism-and-conflicts-of-interest-jaredkushner-and-ivanka-trump/.
- 15 Jill Abramson, "Nepotism and corruption: the handmaidens of Trump's presidency," The Guardian, March 6, 2018, <u>https://www. theguardian.com/commentisfree/2018/mar/06/</u> nepotism-corruption-handmaiden-trump-presidency.
- 16 Devlin Barrett, Matt Zapotosky, "Barr accuses Justice Department of headhunting and meddling with politics," *Washington Post*, September 16, 2020, https://www.washingtonpost.com/national-security/ william-barr-hillsdale-college/2020/09/16/0986dac4f887-11ea-a275-1a2c2d36e1f1_story.html.

- 17 Sadie Gurman, "Barr Defends Deploying Federal Agents to Protests in Showdown with House Democrats," Wall Street Journal, July 28, 2020, https://www.wsj.com/ articles/attorney-general-barr-to-face-lawmakers-questions-after-string-of-controversies-11595904449; Jason Wilson, "Revealed: pro-Trump activists plotted violence ahead of Portland rallies," *The Guardian*, September 23, 2020, https://www.theguardian.com/ world/2020/sep/23/oregon-portland-pro-trumpprotests-violence-texts; Ryan Devereaux, "Leaked documents show police knew far-right extremists were the real threat at protests, not "Antifa,"" *The Intercept*, July 15, 2020, https://theintercept.com/2020/07/15/ george-floyd-protests-police-far-right-antifa/.
- 18 Kevin Johnson, "Attorney General Barr ordered park protesters cleared before Trump's visit to St. John's church," USA Today, June 2, 2020, https://www. usatoday.com/story/news/politics/2020/06/02/ george-floyd-protests-barr-promises-more-patrolswhite-house/3124628001/; Carrie Johnson, "ACLU Demands Barr Name Special Prosecutor to Probe Lafayette Square Crackdown," NPR, July 14, 2020, https://www.npr.org/2020/07/14/890457966/ aclu-demands-barr-name-special-prosecutor-to-probelafayette-square-crackdown.
- 19 Isaac Arnsdorf, "Trump rewards big donors with jobs and access," *Politico*, December 27, 2016, https:// www.politico.com/story/2016/12/donald-trump-donors-rewards-232974; "Presidential profiteering: Trump's conflicts got worse in year two," *CREW*, January 16, 2019, https://www.citizensforethics.org/ reports-investigations/crew-reports/presidential-profiteering-trumps-conflicts-got-worse-in-year-two/.
- 20 James Lamond, Jeremy Venook, "Blunting Foreign Interference Efforts by Learning the Lessons of the Past," Center for American Progress, September 2, 2020, https://www.americanprogress.org/issues/ security/reports/2020/09/02/489865/blunting-foreign-interference-efforts-learning-lessons-past/.
- 21 Miles Park, "A 'Toothless' Old Law Could Have New Fangs, Thanks to Robert Mueller," NPR, November 17, 2017, https://www.npr.org/2017/11/17/563737981/atoothless-old-law-could-have-new-fangs-thanks-torobert-mueller; Nick Robinson, "The Foreign Agents Registration Act is Broken," Foreign Policy, July 22, 2019, https://foreignpolicy.com/2019/07/22/ the-foreign-agents-registration-act-is-broken/.

- 22 Ayesha Rascoe, "Trump White House will not make visitor logs public, break from Obama policy," *Reuters*, April 14, 2017, <u>https://www. reuters.com/article/us-usa-trump-visitors/</u> <u>trump-white-house-will-not-make-visitor-logs-publicbreak-from-obama-policy-idUSKBN17G1GF.</u>
- 23 Donald J. Trump, 2016 Executive Branch Personnel Public Financial Disclosure Report (OGE Form 278e), June 14, 2017, https://oge.app.box.com/s/ kz4qvbdsbcfrzq16msuo4zmth6rerh1c; Donald J. Trump, 2017 Executive Branch Personnel Public Financial Disclosure Report (OGE Form 278e), May 15, 2018; Donald J. Trump, 2018 Executive Branch Personnel Public Financial Disclosure Report (OGE Form 278e), May 15, 2019 http://pfds.opensecrets.org/N00023864_2018.pdf; Donald J. Trump, 2019 Executive Branch Personnel Public Financial Disclosure Report (OGE Form 278e), July 31, 2020, https://extapps2.oge.gov/201/Presiden.nsf/ PAS+Index/181BAF52E298FD70852585B70027E054/ \$FILE/Trump,%20Donald%20J.%202020Annual%20 278.pdf.
- 24 Jan Wolfe, "U.S. appeals court to revisit Trump win in hotel 'emoluments' case," *Reuters*, October 15, 2019, https://www.reuters.com/article/us-usa-trump-emoluments/u-s-appeals-court-to-revisit-trump-win-in-hotelemoluments-case-idUSKBN1WU2WI.
- 25 "President Trump's 3,400 conflicts of interest," *CREW*, September 24, 2020, <u>https://www.citizens-forethics.org/reports-investigations/crew-reports/president-trumps-3400-conflicts-of-interest/.</u>
- 26 The Foreign Emoluments Clause states: "No Title of Nobility shall be granted by the United States: And no Person holding any Office of Profit or Trust under them, shall, without the Consent of the Congress, accept of any present, Emolument, Office, or Title, of any kind whatever, from any King, Prince, or foreign State," See U.S. Const. art. I § 9, cl. 8; Norman L. Eisen, Richard Painter, Laurence H. Tribe, "The Emoluments Clause: Its Text, Meaning, and Application to Donald J. Trump," *The Brookings Institution*, December 16, 2016, <u>https:// www.brookings.edu/wp-content/uploads/2016/12/ gs_121616_emoluments-clause1.pdf.</u>

- 27 The Domestic Emoluments Clause states: "The President shall, at stated Times, receive for his Services, a Compensation, which shall neither be encreased nor diminished during the Period for which he shall have been elected, and he shall not receive within that Period any other Emolument from the United States, or any of them," See U.S. Const. art. II § 1, cl. 7.
- 28 Citizens for Responsibility and Ethics in Washington v. Trump, No. 18-474-cv (2d Cir. Aug 17, 2020); In re Trump, 958 F.3d 274 (4th Cir. 2020); Blumenthal v. Trump, 949 F.3d 14 (D.C. Cir. 2020). The editor was formally counsel of record in the first two matters.
- 29 "The [Trump] plan does not comport with the tradition of our Presidents over the past 40 years. This isn't the way the Presidency has worked since Congress passed the Ethics in Government Act in 1978 in the immediate aftermath of the Watergate scandal. Since then, Presidents Jimmy Carter, Ronald Reagan, George H.W. Bush, Bill Clinton, George W. Bush, and Barack Obama all either established blind trusts or limited their investments to non-conflicting assets like diversified mutual funds, which are exempt under the conflict of interest law," See "Remarks of U.S. Office of Government Ethics Director Walter M. Shaub, Jr. at the Brooking Institution," The Brookings Institution, January 11, 2017, https://www.brookings.edu/wp-content/ uploads/2017/01/20170111_oge_shaub_remarks.pdf.

- 30 "Letter from GSA Contracting Officer Kevin M. Terry to Trump Old Post Office LLC," GSA, March 23, 2017, https://www.gsa.gov/cdnstatic/Contracting_Officer_ Letter_March_23__2017_Redacted_Version.pdf; Donald J. Trump, Jr. is the Trustee of the Trust, Allen Weisselberg is the Business Trustee of the Trust and Eric F. Trump is the Chairman of the Advisory Board of the Trust. The trust's terms give Trump the right of control and enjoyment over the Trust and its underlying assets, including the right to withdraw money from any business at any time ("President Trump is the Donor of the Trust; President Trump is believed to be the sole beneficiary of the Trust; the purpose of the Trust is to 'hold assets for the exclusive benefit of Donald J. Trump'; the Trustees are required to distribute net income or principal 'at [President Trump's] request as the Trustees deem necessary for his maintenance, support or uninsured medical expenses or as the Trustees otherwise deem appropriate'; the Trustees consist of a close family member and close business associate rather than independent and unaffiliated persons; and President Trump retains the power to revoke the Trust."), See "Letter from Noah Bookbinder to Senator John Barrasso and Senator Tom Carper," CREW, April 25, 2017, https://www.epw.senate.gov/public/_cache/ files/c84b0695-3504-4ed7-b3d7-e4817a4444e3/ citizens-for-responsibility-and-ethics-in-washington.pdf, 5; Drew Harwell, "Trump Can Quietly Draw Money from Trust Whenever He Wants, New Documents Show," Washington Post, April 3, 2017, https://www.washingtonpost.com/politics/ trump-can-quietly-draw-money-from-trust-whenever-hewants-new-documents-show/2017/04/03/7f4c0002-187c-11e7-9887-1a5314b56a08_story. html?utm_term=.b2e41134181.
- 31 In addition to rent and hotel income, the Trump Organization has received at least 66 foreign trademarks, the vast majority of which are from China, See "President Trump's 3,400 conflicts of interest," CREW.

- 32 The Foreign Emoluments Clause was the Framers' response to the tactics deployed by foreign sovereigns and their agents to acquire influence over officials by giving them gifts, money, and other things of value, See Zephyr Teachout, Corruption in America (Cambridge: Harvard University Press, 2014); Norman Eisen et al., "The Emoluments Clause: Its Text, Meaning, and Application to Donald J. Trump"; Expressly limited to the President, the prohibition in the Domestic Emoluments Clause also was intended to protect the government from corruption ("The legislature, on the appointment of a President, is once for all to declare what shall be the compensation for his services during the time for which he shall have been elected. This done, they will have no power to alter it, either by increase or diminution, till a new period of service by a new election commences. They can neither weaken his fortitude by operating on his necessities, nor corrupt his integrity by appealing to his avarice. Neither the Union, nor any of its members, will be at liberty to give, nor will he be at liberty to receive, any other emolument than that which may have been determined by act. He can, of course, have no pecuniary inducement to renounce or desert the independence intended for him by the Constitution."), See Alexander Hamilton, James Madison, John Jay, The Federalist, on the New Constitution, Written in the Year 1788 (Philadelphia: R. Wilson Desilver, 1847).
- 33 Dan Alexander, "Forbes Estimates China Paid Trump at Least \$5.4 Million Since He Took Office, Via Mysterious Trump Tower Lease," Forbes, October 23, 2020, https:// www.forbes.com/sites/danalexander/2020/10/23/ forbes-estimates-china-paid-trump-at-least-54-million-since-he-took-office-via-mysterious-trump-towerlease/#106bd06eed11.

- 34 "President Trump's 3,400 conflicts of interest," CREW; Diplomatic events include the Philippine and Kuwaiti embassy events at the Trump Old Post Office Hotel in Washington D.C. and the Romanian consulate event at Trump Chicago hotel, See Ibid.; Trump's donation of foreign profits to the U.S. Treasury was effectively meaningless with no public oversight or independent accounting, See Ben Protess, Steve Eder, "It's Complicated, Trump Group Says of Donating Profit From Foreign Officials," New York Times, May 24, 2017, https://www.nytimes.com/2017/05/24/ business/its-complicated-trump-group-says-of-donating-profit-from-foreign-officials.html; In aggregate, the amounts reimbursed by Trump total \$448,473 for 2017 through 2019, See Jonathan O'Connell, David A. Fahrenthold, "Trump Organization's donation to U.S. Treasury shows drops in foreign government profits," Washington Post, March 9, 2020, https:// www.washingtonpost.com/business/2020/03/09/ trump-foreign-profits/; Jonathan O'Connell, "Trump Organization reports small bump in foreign government profits in 2018," Washington Post, February 25, 2019, https://www.washingtonpost.com/business/economy/ trump-organization-reports-small-bump-in-foreign-government-profits-in-2018/2019/02/24/ b49f3b6c-3872-11e9-a2cd-307b06d0257b_story.html.
- 35 For example, Trump's two-week visit to Mar-a-Lago for Christmas last year cost the Secret Service \$32,400 for guest rooms and his visits to his Bedminster, New Jersey club cost the Secret Service \$17,000 per month to rent a cottage there from May to November, See David A. Fahrenthold et al., "Ballrooms, candles and luxury cottages: During Trump's term, millions of government and GOP dollars have flowed to his properties," Washington Post, October 27, 2020, https://www.washingtonpost.com/politics/ ballrooms-candles-and-luxury-cottages-during-trumpsterm-millions-of-government-and-gop-dollars-haveflowed-to-his-propertiesmar-a-lago-charged-the-government-3-apiece-for-glasses-of-water-for-trump-andthe-japanese-leader/2020/10/27/186f20a2-1469-11eb-bc10-40b25382f1be_story.html; Trump also benefits from his lease with the federal government for the Trump Old Post Office Hotel in Washington D.C., See Isaac Arnsdorf, "Trump picks leader for federal agency overseeing his D.C. hotel," Politico, January 26, 2017, https://www.politico.com/story/2017/01/ trump-picks-gsa-leader-oversee-hotel-234233.

- 36 The legislation should expressly declare the president is covered by the foreign emoluments clause and barred from domestic emoluments under any circumstances, establish civil penalties, forfeiture provisions, and for declaratory and injunctive relief, including by Congress against the president; establish OGE regulatory authority and for allegations involving the president, investigative authority. Except for those involving the Domestic Emoluments Clause, recommendations applicable to the president would likewise apply to the vice president, See Protecting Our Democracy Act, H.R. 8363, 116th Cong. 2nd Sess. (2020); Bauer, Goldsmith, After Trump (Washington, D.C.: Lawfare, 2020).
- 37 "President Trump's 3,400 conflicts of interest," CREW.
- 38 Rebecca Jacobs, Walker Davis, "Special interest groups likely spent more than \$13 million at Trump properties. They got what they paid for," *CREW*, October 30, 2020, <u>https://www.citizensforethics.org/</u> reports-investigations/crew-investigations/special-interest-groups-spent-13-million-trump-properties/.
- 39 "President Trump's 3,400 conflicts of interest," CREW.
- 40 18 U.S.C. § 208(a) bars most executive branch employees from participating in any particular matter that would have a direct and predictable effect on their financial interests or those imputed to them, unless they receive a waiver or a regulatory exemption applies.
- 41 Divestiture also would be satisfied by placing business interests into a qualified blind or diversified trust, provided they also commit to the sale of those assets. Congress may also want to consider whether family-owned and operated farms should also be permitted, See For the People Act, H.R. 1, 116th Cong. 1st Sess. (2019); "Trump-Proofing the Presidency: A Plan for Executive Branch Ethics Reform," *CREW and Public Citizen*, October 2, 2018, https://www.citizensforethics.org/wp-content/uploads/legacy/2018/10/Trump-Proofing-the-Presidency.pdf.

- 42 Katie Rogers, "Trump on Releasing His Tax Returns: From 'Absolutely' to 'Political Prosecution," New York Times, July 9, 2020, https://www.nytimes. com/2020/07/09/us/politics/trump-taxes.html; Trump's pending audit excuse is at best specious since no audit stopped his predecessors from publicly releasing their tax returns. Following a tax scandal involving Richard Nixon, all presidents since Jimmy Carter have voluntarily released their tax returns, See "Presidential Tax Returns," TaxNotes, n.d., http://www.taxhistory. org/www/website.nsf/web/presidentialtaxreturns; By publicly releasing their tax returns, presidents show their willingness and ability to comply with their tax obligations and reveal that they have nothing to hide in terms of personal enrichment or secret sources of income. Disclosure not only serves as a window into trustworthiness and honesty, but can also help identify possible conflicts of interests, See "Trump-Proofing the Presidency," CREW and Public Citizen.
- 43 Ibid.
- 44 Trump paid no federal income taxes in 10 of the previous 15 years, while paying only \$750 in income taxes for 2016 and 2017, See David Leonhardt, "18 Revelations From a Trove of Trump Tax Records," *New York Times*, September 27, 2020, https://www. nytimes.com/2020/09/27/us/trump-taxes-takeaways. html; Russ Buettner, Susanne Craig, Mike McIntire, "Long-Concealed Records Show Trump's Chronic Losses and Years of Tax Avoidance," *New York Times*, September 27, 2020, https://www.nytimes.com/interactive/2020/09/27/us/donald-trump-taxes.html.
- 45 If the "abandonment" claim is not viewed as legitimate by the IRS, it may result in Trump owing the IRS \$100 million in taxes and penalties, See ibid.
- 46 Mike McIntire, Russ Buettner, Susanne Craig, "Trump Records Shed New Light on Chinese Business Pursuits," *New York Times*, October 20, 2020, <u>https://www.nytimes.com/2020/10/20/us/trump-taxes-china.html</u>; Buettner et al., "Long-Concealed Records Show Trump's Chronic Losses and Years of Tax Avoidance."

- 47 Major party presidential candidates should be required to release their three most recent federal income tax returns on or before May 15 of the filing year in which they become an official candidate. Disclosure by presidential and vice presidential candidates would be made to the FEC and for elected presidents and vice presidents to OGE to be posted electronically by the respective agency on their official agency website with appropriate redactions to protect necessary privacy interests (e.g., Social Security numbers, addresses etc.). Recommendations in this section that apply to presidential candidates and elected presidents would likewise apply to vice presidential candidates and elected vice presidents, See For the People Act, H.R. 1, 116th Cong. 1st Sess. (2019); "Trump-Proofing the Presidency," CREW and Public Citizen.
- 48 Dan Alexander, "Donald Trump Has At Least \$1 Billion in Debt, More Than Twice the Amount He Suggested," Forbes, October 16, 2020, <u>https://www. forbes.com/sites/danalexander/2020/10/16/ donald-trump-has-at-least-1-billion-in-debt-more-thantwice-the-amount-he-suggested/?sh=6c450fc43306.</u>
- 49 Jesse Eisinger, "Deutsche Bank Remains Trump's Biggest Conflict of Interest Despite Settlements," ProPublica, February 9, 2017, https://www.propublica. org/article/deutsche-bank-trump-conflict-of-interest-despite-settlements; David Enrich, "The Money Behind Trump's Money," New York Times, February 4, 2020, https://www.nytimes.com/2020/02/04/ magazine/deutsche-bank-trump.html; Suzanne Craig, "Trump Boasts of Rapport With Wall St., but the Feeling Is Not Quite Mutual," New York Times, May 23, 2016, https://www.nytimes.com/2016/05/24/business/ dealbook/donald-trump-relationship-bankers.html; Matt Scuffham, Tom Sims, John O'Donnell, "Exclusive: Tired of Trump, Deutsche Bank games ways to sever ties with the president - sources," Reuters, November 3, 2020, https://www.reuters.com/article/BigStory12/ idUSKBN27J0G0.
- 50 Buettner et al., "Long-Concealed Records Show Trump's Chronic Losses and Years of Tax Avoidance."

- 51 Michael Morell, David Kris, "Trump is in debt. We can't ignore the national security risks that come with that," Washington Post, October 11, 2020, <u>https://www.washingtonpost.com/opinions/2020/10/11/trump-is-debt-we-cant-ignore-national-security-risks-that-come-with-that/.</u>
- 52 The president should also be required to file the initial public financial disclosure report with OGE not later than May 15 in the year they first take office and thereafter annually, See For the People Act, H.R. 1, 116th Cong. 1st Sess. (2019); "Trump-Proofing the Presidency," *CREW* and *Public Citizen*.
- 53 The opinion concluded that the White House was exempt from 5 U.S.C. § 3110, the anti-nepotism statute, which forbids a public official from appointing a relative "to a civilian position in the agency ... over which [the official] exercises jurisdiction or control," See "Application of the Anti-Nepotism Statute to a Presidential Appointment in the White House Office," Justice.gov, January 20, 2017, https://www.justice. gov/opinion/file/930116/download, 14; Jill Abramson, "Nepotism and corruption: the handmaidens of Trump's presidency," The Guardian, March 6, 2018, https://www. theguardian.com/commentisfree/2018/mar/06/ nepotism-corruption-handmaiden-trump-presidency.
- 54 "An individual, except the President, elected or appointed to an office of honor or profit in the civil service or uniformed services, shall take the following oath: 'I, AB, do solemnly swear (or affirm) that I will support and defend the Constitution of the United States against all enemies, foreign and domestic; that I will bear true faith and allegiance to the same; that I take this obligation freely, without any mental reservation or purpose of evasion; and that I will well and faithfully discharge the duties of the office on which I am about to enter. So help me God," See 5 U.S.C. § 3331.

- 55 Michael Schmidt, Donald Trump v. The United States (New York: Penguin Random House, 2020), 298; As a former-Trump campaign chair notes, "Nobody has more influence in the White House than Jared. Nobody has more influence outside the White House than Jared. He's No. 2 after Trump." For example, then-chief of staff John Kelly was reportedly ordered by Trump to grant Kushner a top-secret security clearance against the recommendations of career White House security specialists and the White House Counsel who objected due to Kushner's law enforcement issues, foreign business entanglements, and potential susceptibility to foreign influence, See Maggie Haberman et al., "Trump Ordered Officials to Give Jared Kushner a Security Clearance," New York Times, February 28, 2019, https:// www.nytimes.com/2019/02/28/us/politics/jared-kushner-security-clearance.html; Josh Dawsey, Seung Min Kim, Shane Harris, "Trump demanded top-secret security clearance for Jared Kushner last year despite concerns of John Kelly and intelligence officials," Washington Post, February 28, 2019, https://wapo.st/2VFDUUV.
- 56 "Trump-Proofing the Presidency," CREW and Public Citizen.
- 57 18 U.S.C. § 208(a). Other laws and regulations bar employees at certain agencies from holding specified assets. See e.g., 12 U.S.C. § 244; 5 C.F.R. § 5501.104.
- 58 The terms "senior employee" and "very senior employee" are individuals covered by paragraphs
 (c) and (d) of 18 U.S.C. § 207. 5 C.F.R. §§ 2641.104, 2641.204, 2641.205.
- 59 "Appendix Nominee Ethics Guide," *United States Office* of Government Ethics, n.d., <u>https://bit.ly/2IV5TPC</u>.
- 60 26 U.S.C. § 1043.
- 61 5 U.S.C. app. §§ 102(a)(5), 103(l).
- 62 Robert I. Cusick, "Discretionary Trusts," DO-08-024 (Washington DC: Office of Government Ethics, 2008), https://bit.ly/37nFXFH.
- 63 Ibid.; Walter M. Shaub, Jr., "Reporting Requirements for Discretionary Trusts" (Washington DC: Office of Government Ethics, 2013), <u>https://bit.ly/37lTqh4</u>.
- 64 5 U.S.C. app. § 103.

65 Ibid.

- 66 5 U.S.C. app. § 103(c); Alison Durkee, "Louis DeJoy Divesting from Former Company that Contracts with Postal Service," *Forbes*, October 20, 2020, <u>https://bit. ly/3gQIOdd</u>; Adam Cancryn, Jennifer Haberkorn, "Why the CDC director had to resign," *Politico*, October 31, 2018, <u>https://politi.co/2UhsaJf</u>.
- 67 Crandon v. U.S., 494 U.S. 152 (1990).
- 68 5 C.F.R. § 2635.503.
- 69 18 U.S.C. § 207(c), (d).
- 70 Exec. Order No. 13,770 of Jan. 28, 2017, 82 Fed. Reg.
 9,333 (Feb. 3, 2017), <u>https://bit.ly/3gPtxcN</u>; Exec. Order No. 13,490 of Jan. 21, 2009, 74 Fed. Reg. 4,673 (Jan. 26, 2009), <u>https://bit.ly/37jMEbl</u>.
- 71 18 U.S.C. § 207(d).
- 72 5 U.S.C. app. § 502.
- 73 5 U.S.C. § 7324(b).
- 74 "Letter to an Alternate Designated Agency Ethics Official," Office of Government Ethics, February 13, 1995, <u>https://bit.ly/3ai62b0</u>; "Conflicts of Interest Considerations: Law Firm or Consulting Employment," Office of Government Ethics, Last Updated June 22, 2018, <u>https://bit.ly/37r5Kgp</u>; Max Stier, Charles Borden, Robert Rizzi, "Presidential Appointments Vetting Guide. Precedents, Authorities and Case Studies," Partnership for Public Service, June 2016, <u>https://bit.ly/3npiXLU</u>.
- 75 Daniel I. Weiner, "Strengthening Presidential Ethics Law," Brennan Center for Justice, 2017, <u>https://bit. ly/2KqQtTy</u>, 12.
- 76 5 U.S.C. app. § 104(d); 5 C.F.R. § 2634.704.
- 77 5 U.S.C. § 1215(a)(3)(A)(ii); 5 C.F.R. § 1201.126(a) (2020).
- 78 This noncriminal law would need to employ different standards than the criminal conflict of interest law, so a finding of culpability would not amount to a finding that an employee committed a crime.

79 5 U.S.C. § 7703.

- 80 Inspector General Reform Act of 2008, P.L. 110–409 (2008).
- 81 Jen Kirby, "Inspectors general, explained by a former inspector general," *Vox*, May 20, 2020, <u>https://bit.ly/3no5YdA</u>.
- 82 Senator Elizabeth Warren and others have proposed similar legislation, See Coronavirus Oversight and Recovery Ethics Act, S.3855, 116th Congress (2020), <u>https://bit.ly/35cVc3k</u>.
- 83 Nancy M. Modesitt, "The War on Whistleblowers," University of Pennsylvania Journal of Law and Public Affairs 6 (Forthcoming), September 2020, <u>https://bit.ly/37mlllx</u>.
- 84 This provision might deter a repeat of conduct committed during President Trump's impeachment trial by Senator Rand Paul, who made a public statement about an individual conservative media had labeled a whistleblower, See Kyle Cheney, Burgess Everett, "Rand Paul reads alleged whistleblower's name and Republicans 'fine' with it," *Politico*, February 4, 2020, <u>https://politi. co/2UcylJt</u>.
- 85 5 U.S.C. §§ 2302(b)(8)(B)(i)-(ii), 2303(a)(2).
- 86 Liz Hempowicz, "The State of Whistleblower Protections and Ideas for Reform," *POGO*, January 8, 2019, <u>https://bit.ly/32vJMWC</u>.
- 87 50 U.S.C. § 3033(k)(5)(G).
- 88 "Appellant Questions and Answers," U.S. Merit Systems Protection Board, n.d., <u>https://bit.ly/2KsWSO2</u>.
- 89 5 U.S.C. § 2302(b)(9)(D).
- 90 Nicole Ogrysko, "New executive order could strip civil service protections from 'wide swaths' of federal workforce," *Federal News Network*, October 22, 2020, <u>https:// bit.ly/37ISZTY</u>; Tim Stretton, "Trump's New Executive Order Would Enable Government Corruption," *POGO*, October 30, 2020, <u>https://bit.ly/380oRN2</u>.

55

- 91 Exec. Order No. Order 13,957, 85 Fed. Reg. 67,631 (Oct. 21, 2020), <u>https://bit.ly/3eKCblF</u>; 5 U.S.C. § 7511(b)(2)(A).
- 92 In December 2015, there were 1,501 positions exempted under Schedule C, See Beth Cobert, Acting Director, "Memorandum for Heads of Departments and Agencies," Office of Personnel Management, 2017, https://bit.ly/2K06K1L.
- 93 Department of Veterans Affairs Accountability and Whistleblower Protection Act of 2017, Pub. L. No. 115–41, § 201 (2017) (codified at 38 U.S.C. § 713); 5 U.S.C. §§ 2302–2303.
- 94 5 U.S.C. § 7103(b); Delegation of Certain Authority Under the Federal Service Labor-Management Relations Statute, 85 Fed. Reg. 10033, Feb. 21, 2020.
- 95 James Lamond, Jeremy Venook, "Blunting Foreign Interference Efforts by Learning the Lessons of the Past," Center for American Progress, September 2, 2020, https://www.americanprogress.org/issues/ security/reports/2020/09/02/489865/blunting-foreign-interference-efforts-learning-lessons-past/.
- 96 Ibid.
- 97 Abigail Abrams, "Here's What We Know So Far About Russia's 2016 Meddling," *TIME*, April 18, 2019, <u>https://time.com/5565991/russia-influence-2016-election/;</u> Patrick Howell O'Neill, "The Russian hackers who interfered in 2016 were spotted targeting the 2020 US election," *MIT Technology Review*, September 10, 2020, <u>https://</u> www.technologyreview.com/2020/09/10/1008297/ the-russian-hackers-who-interfered-in-2016-were-spotted-targeting-the-2020-us-election/.
- 98 Intelligence and Security Committee of Parliament, Russia. H.C. 632, 2020, <u>https://assets.documentcloud.org/documents/6999013/20200721-HC632-CCS001-CCS1019402408-001-ISC.pdf</u>.
- 99 Matt Apuzzo, Adam Satariano, "Russia Is Targeting Europe's Elections. So Are Far-Right Copycats," New York Times, May 12, 2019, https://www.nytimes. com/2019/05/12/world/europe/russian-propaganda-influence-campaign-european-elections-far-right.html.

- 100 Margaret Taylor, "Combating Disinformation and Foreign Interference in Democracies: Lessons from Europe," *The Brookings Institution*, July 31, 2019, <u>https://www. brookings.edu/blog/techtank/2019/07/31/ combating-disinformation-and-foreign-interference-in-democracies-lessons-from-europe/.</u>
- 101 Claire Finkelstein, "How Democracy in the Kremlin's Crosshairs Can Fight Back," Zocalo Public Square, May 11, 2017, <u>https://www. zocalopublicsquare.org/2017/05/11/democracy-kremlins-crosshairs-can-fight-back/ideas/ nexus/.</u>
- 102 Kari Paul and Lois Beckett, "What We Know—and still don't—about the worst-ever US government cyberattack," *The Guardian*, December 19, 2020, <u>https:// www.theguardian.com/technology/2020/dec/18/ orion-hack-solarwinds-explainer-us-government.</u>
- 103 Robert McMillan, Alexa Corse, "Russian Hacks of U.S. Government Networks Prompt Election Warning," Wall Street Journal, October 23, 2020, <u>https://www.wsj.com/articles/russian-hacks-of-u-s-government-networks-prompt-election-warning-11603401513</u>.
- 104 Julian E. Barnes, Adam Goldman, "Russia Trying to Stoke U.S. Racial Tensions Before Elections, Officials Say," New York Times, March 10, 2020, <u>https://www. nytimes.com/2020/03/10/us/politics/russian-interference-race.html.</u>
- 105 Ben Freeman, "The Saudi lobbying machine continues to exert influence on Congress—and Trump," *Washington Post*, April 17, 2019, <u>https://www. washingtonpost.com/opinions/2019/04/18/</u> <u>saudi-lobbying-machine-continues-exert-influence-congress-trump/</u>.
- 106 Luke O'Brien, "Putin's Washington," *Politico*, January/ February 2015, <u>https://www.politico.com/magazine/</u> story/2015/01/putins-washington-113894.
- 107 Jen Kirby, "Are China and Iran meddling in US elections? Its's Complicated," Vox, September 15, 2020, <u>https://www.vox.com/21418513/</u> <u>china-iran-us-election-meddling-russia</u>.

56

- 108 Elaine C. Kamarck, Darrell M. West, *Dirty Tricks in the Digital Age* (Washington DC: Brookings Institution Press, 2019).
- 109 Jane Mayer, "How Russia Helped Swing the Election for Trump," *New Yorker*, September 24, 2018, <u>https://</u> <u>www.newyorker.com/magazine/2018/10/01/how-</u> <u>russia-helped-to-swing-the-election-for-trump;</u> Ellen Nakashima, "Fewer opportunities and a changed political environment in the U.S. may have curbed Moscow's election interference this year, analysts say," *Washington Post*, November 17, 2020, <u>https://</u> <u>www.washingtonpost.com/national-security/</u> <u>russia-failed-to-mount-major-election-interference-operations-in-2020-analysts-say/2020/11/16/72c62b0c-1880-11eb-82db-60b15c874105_story.html.</u>
- 110 Eric Tucker, Frank Bajak, "US officials link Iran to emails meant to intimidate voters," AP, October 21, 2020, https://apnews.com/article/donald-trumpflorida-elections-voting-2020-voting-2124f257f89 649630e123952df34b186; Kevin Collier, "Russia, China and Iran launched cyberattacks on presidential campaigns, Microsoft says," NBC News, September 10, 2020, https://www.nbcnews.com/tech/security/ russian-china-iran-launched-cyberattacks-presidential-campaigns-microsoft-says-n1239803; Stephanie Kirchgaessner, "Revealed: Saudis suspected of phone spying campaign in US," The Guardian, March 29, 2020, https://www.theguardian.com/world/2020/mar/29/ revealed-saudis-suspected-of-phone-spying-campaignin-us.
- 111 Finklestein, "How Democracy in the Kremlin's Crosshairs Can Fight Back."
- 112 Janna Anderson, Lee Rainie, "Concerns about democracy in the digital age," Pew Research Center, February 21, 2020, <u>https://</u> <u>www.pewresearch.org/internet/2020/02/21/</u> <u>concerns-about-democracy-in-the-digital-age/</u>.
- 113 Audit Division 16–24, "Audit of the National Security Division's Enforcement and Administration of the Foreign Agents Registration Act," Office of the Inspector General U.S. Department of Justice, 2016, <u>https://oig.justice.gov/reports/2016/a1624.pdf</u>.

- 114 Cynthia Brown, "The Foreign Agents Registration Act (FARA): A Legal Overview" (Congressional Research Service, 2017), <u>https://fas.org/sgp/crs/misc/R45037.</u> pdf.
- 115 Ibid.
- 116 Ibid.
- 117 Consider, for example, the failed attempt to prosecute Greg Craig, from the law firm of Skadden, Arps, for his dealings with Ukraine, See Sharon LaFraniere, "Gregory Craig Acquitted on Charge of Lying to Justice Department," New York Times, September 4, 2019, https://www.nytimes.com/2019/09/04/us/politics/ gregory-craig-acquitted.html.
- 118 Audit Division 16–24, "Audit of the National Security Division's Enforcement and Administration of the Foreign Agents Registration Act."
- 119 E.g., The prosecutions of Greg Craig, W. Samuel Patten, Richard Gate and Michael Flynn, See "Recent FARA Cases," The United States Department of Justice, n.d., https://www.justice.gov/nsd-fara/recent-cases.
- 120 Ibid., 9.
- 121 Audit Division 16–24, "Audit of the National Security Division's Enforcement and Administration of the Foreign Agents Registration Act," 9–13.
- 122 Francis R. O'Hara, "The Foreign Agents Registration Act - The Spotlight of Pitiless Publicity," *Villanova Law Review* 10, no. 3 (1965): 441.
- 123 Audit Division 16–24, "Audit of the National Security Division's Enforcement and Administration of the Foreign Agents Registration Act."
- 124 22 U.S.C. 613 (as amended by Pub. L. 104-65, §9(3)).
- 125 22 U.S. Code § 613.

- 126 Ben Freeman, Lydia Dennett, "Loopholes, Filing Failures, and Lax Enforcement: How the Foreign Agents Registration Act Falls Short," *POGO*, December 16, 2014, <u>https://www.pogo.org/report/2014/12/</u> <u>loopholes-filing-failures-and-lax-enforcement-how-foreign-agents-registration-act-falls-short/</u>.
- 127 Ibid.; Audit Division 16–24, "Audit of the National Security Division's Enforcement and Administration of the Foreign Agents Registration Act," 8–12.
- 128 C. Ryan Barber, "Greg Craig's Judge, Dismissing One Charge, Shapes Upcoming Trial," *Law.com–The National Law Journal*, August 6, 2019, <u>https://www.</u> <u>law.com/nationallawjournal/2019/08/06/greg-craigs-judge-dismissing-one-charge-shapes-upcoming-trial/</u>.
- 129 Nick Robinson, "Foreign Agents' in an Interconnected World: FARA and the Weaponization of Transparency," Duke Law Journal 69 (2020): 1075–1147, <u>https://schol-arship.law.duke.edu/dlj/vol69/iss5/2</u>.
- 130 Doug Rutzen, Nick Robinson, "The Unintended 'Foreign Agents," Just Security, March 16, 2018, <u>https://www. justsecurity.org/53967/unintended-foreign-agents/</u>.
- 131 22 U.S.C. § 611(d).
- 132 Ibid.
- 133 Robinson, "Foreign Agents' in an Interconnected World," 1113–5; Alexandra Ellerbeck, Avi Asher-Schapiro, "Everything to know about FARA, and why it shouldn't be used against the press," Columbia Journalism Review, June 11, 2018, https://www.cjr.org/ analysis/fara-press.php.
- 134 Cynthia Brown, "The Foreign Agents Registration Act (FARA): A Legal Overview," 1.
- 135 "Accreditation Criteria," *House Radio Television Correspondents' Gallery*, n.d., <u>https://radiotv.house.gov/</u> <u>membership/accreditation-criteria</u>; Rutzen et al., "The Unintended 'Foreign Agents.""
- 136 Ellerbeck et al., "Everything to know about FARA, and why it shouldn't be used against the press."

- 137 Robinson, "Foreign Agents' in an Interconnected World," 1113–6.
- 138 Joel Simon, "Propaganda or not, forcing RT to register sets a bad precedent," *Committee to Protect Journalists*, December 1, 2017, <u>https://www.cjr.org/</u> <u>analysis/fara-press.php,%20https://www.cjr.org/opin-</u> <u>ion/rt-propaganda-foreign-agent.php</u>.
- 139 "Protecting democracy: Modernizing the Foreign Agents Registration Act" (talk, American Enterprise Institute, Washington DC, 2019), <u>https://www.aei.org/ events/protecting-democracy-modernizing-the-foreign-agents-registration-act/.</u>; Rutzen et al., "The Unintended 'Foreign Agents."
- 140 Lydia Dennett, "Comparing Current Foreign Influence Reform Legislation," *POGO*, August 9, 2018, <u>https://www.pogo.org/analysis/2018/08/</u> comparing-current-foreign-influence-reform-legislation/.
- 141 Cynthia Brown, "The Foreign Agents Registration Act (FARA): A Legal Overview."
- 142 Along with the following reforms, the Project on Government Oversight has also recommended that Congress amend FARA to give the Justice Department the authority to levy civil fines on certain offenders. For a more detailed discussion of that proposed reform, see Liz Hempowicz, Sean Moulton, Rebecca Jones, and Peter Tyler, "Baker's Dozen: 13 Policy Areas that Require Congressional Action," Project on Government Oversight, January 31, 2019, https://www.pogo.org/ report/2019/01/bakers-dozen-13-policy-areas-that-require-congressional-action/.
- 143 22 U.S.C. § 611(d).
- 144 Ibid.
- 145 Ibid.
- 146 Ibid.

- 147 One government watchdog has noted that owing to the sweeping power of Civil Investigative Demand authority, Congress should set limitations on its usage by the Department of Justice to preempt potential abuses. See Lydia Dennett, "Comparing Current Foreign Influence Reform Legislation," Project on Government Oversight, August 9, 2018, <u>https://www.pogo.org/analysis/2018/08/ comparing-current-foreign-influence-reform-legislation/.</u>
- 148 For the People Act of 2019, H.R. 1, 116th Congress 1st sess. (2019).
- 149 Jacob R. Straus, "Foreign Agents Registration Act (FARA): Background Issues for Congress," 20.
- 150 Disclosing Foreign Influence Act, H.R. 4170, 115th Congress 1st sess. (2017).
- 151 "About DOJ," *The United States Department of Justice,* September 16, 2014, <u>https://www.justice.gov/about</u>.
- 152 Report on the Department of Justice and the Rule of Law Under the Tenure of Attorney General William Barr," CREW and CERL, October 12, 2020, https://www.law.upenn.edu/live/ files/10900-report-on-the-doj-and-the-rule-of-law.
- 153 Ibid., 14.
- 154 Edward H. Levi, ed., *Restoring Justice: The Speeches of Attorney General Edward H. Levi* (University of Chicago Press, 2013).
- 155 Ibid.; David Leonhardt, "The Sense of Justice That We're Losing," New York Times, April 29, 2018, <u>https://www.nytimes.com/2018/04/29/opinion/the-sense-of-justice-that-were-losing.html</u>.
- 156 Griffin B. Bell, Ron Ostrow, *Taking Care of the Law* (Mercer University Press, 1982).
- 157 "Report on the Department of Justice and the Rule of Law Under the Tenure of Attorney General William Barr," *CERL* and *CREW*, October 12, 2020, <u>https://www.law.upenn.edu/live/</u> <u>files/10900-report-on-the-doj-and-the-rule-of-law</u>.

- 158 "A Guide to the Torture Memos," New York Times, n.d., https://archive.nytimes.com/www.nytimes.com/ref/ international/24MEMO-GUIDE.html?.; Claire Finkelstein and Michael W. Lewis, "Should Bush Administration Lawyers Be Prosecuted for Authorizing Torture?" University of Pennsylvania Law Review (PENNumbra), Vol. 158, p. 195 (2010).
- 159 Jeffrey Rosen, "Conscience of a Conservative," New York Times Magazine, September 9, 2007, https:// www.nytimes.com/2007/09/09/magazine/09rosen. html; Ariane de Vogue, "DOJ Releases Controversial "Torture Memos,"" ABC News, April 15, 2009, https://abcnews.go.com/Politics/LawPolitics/ story?id=7343497&page=1.
- 160 See Claire Finkelstein and Stephen N. Xenakis, "Repairing the Damage from Illegal Acts of State: The Costs of Failed Accountability for Torture," in Interrogation and Torture: Integrating Efficacy with Law and Morality, eds. Stephen J. Barela, et. al. (Oxford University Press, 2020).
- 161 Supra Note 7, 175-179.
- 162 Morrison v. Olson, 487 U.S. 654 (1988).
- 163 Special Counsel Robert Mueller expressed a similar viewpoint in Part II of his 2019 Report; Special Counsel Robert S. Mueller, Report on the Investigation into Russian Interference in the 2016 Presidential Election: Volume II (Washington, D.C: DOJ, 2019), https://www. justice.gov/storage/report_volume2.pdf.
- 164 Saikrishna Prakash, "Removal and Tenure in Office," Virginia Law Review 92, no. 8, (2006).
- 165 "About the Office," U.S. Department of Justice Office of the Inspector General, n.d., <u>https://oig.justice.gov/</u> <u>about</u>.
- 166 Ibid.
- 167 The Inspector General Access Act of 2019, S. 685 (H.R. 202), 116th Congress 2nd sess. (2019).
- 168 "Office of Professional Responsibility," U.S. Department of Justice, <u>https://www.justice.gov/opr</u>.

- 169 "Report on the DOJ and the Rule of Law," CERL and CREW, 37.
- 170 Ibid., 57-58.
- 171 Ibid., 70-71.
- 172 See Erin Banco, "Barr Pressed Australia for Help on Mueller Review as DOJ Worked to Free its Hostages," *The Daily Beast*, June 16, 2020, <u>https://www.</u> <u>thedailybeast.com/bill-barr-pressed-australia-for-helpon-mueller-review-as-doj-worked-to-free-its-hostages.</u>
- 173 During the 2016 primaries, Donald Trump was far more critical of the campaign finance system than the other Republican candidates, a message that clearly resonated with voters: "Like Sanders, Donald Trump has made money in politics one of the biggest targets of his campaign-and an emblem of his outsider status. He has called superPACs 'horrible' and insists the separation between candidates and the independent groups backing them is a charade. Trump says he supports campaign finance reform, though a specific plan is not available on his website. When he launched his campaign in June, Trump promised supporters that he would inoculate himself from the influence of donors. 'I don't need anybody's money. I'm using my own money. I'm not using the lobbyists. I'm not using donors. I don't care. I'm really rich,' Trump said," See Peter Overby, "Presidential Candidates Pledge to Undo Citizens United. But Can They?," NPR, February 14, 2016, https:// www.npr.org/2016/02/14/466668949/presidential-candidates-pledge-to-undo-citizens-united-but-can-they.
- 174 Nicholas Confessore, Megan Thee-Brenan, "Poll Shows Americans Favor Overhaul of Campaign Financing," *New York Times*, June 2, 2015, <u>https://www.nytimes.</u> <u>com/2015/06/03/us/politics/poll-shows-americans-fa-</u> <u>vor-overhaul-of-campaign-financing.html</u>; "Money in Politics Poll," *New York Times*, June 2, 2015, <u>https://</u> <u>www.nytimes.com/interactive/2015/06/02/us/politics/</u> <u>money-in-politics-poll.html</u>.

- 175 Miles Parks, "FACT CHECK: Russian Interference Went Far Beyond 'Facebook Ads' Kushner Described," NPR, April 24, 2019, https:// www.npr.org/2019/04/24/716374421/ fact-check-russian-interference-went-far-beyondfacebook-ads-kushner-described; Nathaniel Gleicher, "Removing Coordinated Inauthentic Behavior from Russia," Facebook, January 17, 2019, https://about. fb.com/news/2019/01/removing-cib-from-russia/.
- 176 Brian Schwartz, Lauren Hirsch, "Presidential elections have turned into money wars—thanks to a Supreme Court decision in 2010," *CNBC*, December 20, 2019, https://www.cnbc.com/2019/12/19/presidential-elections-are-now-money-battlesthanks-to-supreme-court. html; Emma Green, "The Local Consequences of *Citizens United*," The Atlantic, July 2, 2015, https:// www.theatlantic.com/politics/archive/2015/07/ the-local-consequences-of-citizens-united/397586/.
- 177 Christine Romans, "Why big American companies stash cash overseas," *CNN Business*, November 3, 2017, https://money.cnn.com/2017/11/03/news/companies/ romans-numeral-overseas-cash/index.html.
- 178 Sophia Yan, "China's parliament has about 100 billionaires, according to data from the Hurun Report," *CNBC*, March 2, 2017, <u>https://www.cnbc.com/2017/03/02/</u> <u>chinas-parliament-has-about-100-billionaires-accord-</u> ing-to-data-from-the-hurun-report.html.
- 179 Simon Shuster, "How Putin's Oligarchs Got Inside the Trump Team," *Time*, September 20, 2018, <u>https://time.com/5401645/putins-oligarchs/;</u> "Russian Interference in 2016 U.S. Elections," FBI, n.d., <u>https://www.fbi. gov/wanted/cyber/russian-interference-in-2016-u-selections;</u> Patricia Zengerle, Doina Chiacu, "U.S. 2018 elections 'under attack' by Russia: U.S. intelligence chief," *Reuters*, February 13, 2018, <u>Https://www.reuters. com/article/us-usa-security-russia-elections/u-s-2018elections-under-attack-by-russia-u-s-intelligence-chiefidUSKCN1FX1Z8.</u>
- 180 "Western firms have little to lose from a Middle Eastern war," *The Economist*, January 9, 2020, <u>https://www.</u> <u>economist.com/business/2020/01/09/western-firmshave-little-to-lose-from-a-middle-eastern-war.</u>

- 181 Jonathan Rauch, Ray La Raja, "Too Much Democracy is Bad for Democracy," *The Atlantic*, December 2019, <u>https://www.theatlantic.com/magazine/archive/2019/12/</u> <u>too-much-democracy-is-bad-for-democracy/600766/.</u>
- 182 "Citizens United v. FEC (Supreme Court)," Federal Election Commission, February 1, 2010, <u>https://www.fec.gov/updates/citizens-united-v-fecsupreme-court/;</u> Ted Deutch, "Supreme Court's Citizens United mistake just turned 10 years old. It's time to reverse it," NBC News, January 21, 2020, https://www.nbcnews.com/ think/opinion/supreme-court-s-citizens-united-mistakejust-turned-ten-years-ncna1119826.
- 183 Joan Biskupic, "The Supreme Court hasn't been this conservative since the 1930s," CNN, September 26, 2020, <u>https://www.cnn.com/2020/09/26/politics/</u> <u>supreme-court-conservative/index.html.</u>
- 184 Ted Deutch, "Supreme Court's Citizens United mistake just turned 10 years old. It's time to reverse it"; Ciara Torres-Spelliscy, "Does "We the People" Include Corporations?," American Bar Association, n.d., https:// www.americanbar.org/groups/crsj/publications/ human_rights_magazine_home/we-the-people/ we-the-people-corporations/.
- 185 Clifford A. Jones, "Buckley v. Valeo," Britannica, May 30, 2014, <u>https://www.britannica.com/event/</u> <u>Buckley-v-Valeo</u>.
- 186 McCutcheon et al. v. Federal Election Commission, 12 U.S. 536 (2014), <u>https://www.fec.gov/resources/</u> legal-resources/litigation/mccutcheon_sc_opinion.pdf.
- 187 In 2019, in *Thompson v Hebdon*, 589 U.S. __ (2019), the Supreme Court vacated and remanded a decision by the Ninth Circuit that upheld Alaska's statutory \$500 campaign contribution limit, suggesting that the Ninth Circuit reconsider whether its holding was consistent with the Supreme Court's precedent striking down low dollar limits in Vermont, *See Randall v. Sorrell* (2006) that ruled unconstitutional a Vermont law that limited the amount any single individual can contribute to a candidate for state office during a "two-year general election cycle" as follows: governor, lieutenant governor, and other statewide offices, \$400; state senator, \$300; and state representative, \$200.

- 188 Brendan Parets, <u>"Avoiding Straw Donor Issues,"</u> Inside Political Law Covington, <u>September 11, 2020,</u> <u>https://www.insidepoliticallaw.com/2020/09/11/</u> avoiding-straw-donor-issues/.
- 189 As the FEC explains: "The Federal Election Campaign Act and Commission regulations require special reporting of certain contributions that are collected or "bundled" by lobbyists/registrants, or by political action committees (PACs) that are established or controlled by lobbyists/registrants, on behalf of authorized committees of federal candidates, political party committees, and leadership PACs. Committees receiving these contributions must file Form 3L and disclose certain information about any lobbyist/registrant or lobbyist/registrant PAC that forwards, or is credited with raising, two or more bundled contributions aggregating in excess of a specific reporting threshold within a certain "covered period" of time. These requirements apply to both in-kind and monetary contributions. The reporting threshold for calendar year 2020 is \$19,000."; "Lobbyist Bundling Disclosure," FEC, n.d., https://www.fec.gov/help-candidates-and-committees/ lobbyist-bundling-disclosure/.
- 190 Ibid.; Kate Ackley, "Lobbyists bundle donations to Senate Democrats, Trump Victory," *Roll Call*, July 20, 2020, https://www.rollcall.com/2020/07/20/ lobbyists-bundle-donations-to-senate-democrats-trump-victory/.
- 191 "Ban Lobbyists from Fundraising for Politicians," Center for American Progress, April 25, 2018, <u>https://www.americanprogress.org/issues/democracy/reports/2018/04/25/448596/ban-lobbyists-fundrais-ing-politicians/;</u> "New lobbyist bundling threshold and coordinated party expenditure limits," *FEC*, March 2, 2020, <u>https://www.fec.gov/updates/tip2020-new-lobbyist-bundling-threshold-and-coordinated-party-expenditure-limits/.</u>
- 192 "Who can and can't contribute," *FEC*, n.d., <u>https://www.fec.gov/help-candidates-and-committees/candidate-taking-receipts/who-can-and-cant-contribute/#:~:text=a%20federal%20election).-,Foreign%20nationals,%E2%80%94%20federal%2C%20state%20or%20local; "Bluman v. FEC (Supreme Court)," *FEC*, January 18, 2012, <u>https://www.fec.gov/updates/bluman-v-fec-supreme-court/</u>.</u>

193 Ibid.; "Ending Foreign-Influenced Corporate Spending in U.S. Elections," Center for American Progress, November 21, 2019, <u>https://www.americanprogress.org/issues/democracy/reports/2019/11/21/477466/ ending-foreign-influenced-corporate-spending-u-s-elections/.</u>

194 Ibid.

- 195 John Francis Reilly, Carter Hull, Barbara Braig Allen, "IRC 501(c)(4) Organizations," *IRS*, 2003, <u>https://www. irs.gov/pub/irs-tege/eotopici03.pdf</u>.
- 196 "Exemption Requirements-501(c)(3) Organizations," IRS, n.d., <u>https://www.irs.gov/</u> <u>charities-non-profits/charitable-organizations/exemp-</u> <u>tion-requirements-501c3-organizations#:~:text=To%20</u> <u>be%20tax%2Dexempt%20under,any%20private%20</u> <u>shareholder%20or%20individual.</u>
- 197 Reilly et al., "IRC 501(c)(4) Organizations," IRS, 2003.
- 198 "Donations to Section 501(c)(4) Organizations," *IRS*, n.d., https://www.irs.gov/charities-non-profits/ other-non-profits/donations-to-section-501c4-organizations#:~:text=Contributions%20to%20civic%20 leagues%20or,conduct%20of%20the%20taxpayer's%20 business.
- 199 "Donating to Charity," usa.gov, n.d., https://www. usa.gov/donate-to-charity#:~:text=You%20 may%20be%20able%20to,claim%20vehicle%20 or%20cash%20donations; "Charitable Contribution Deductions," IRS, n.d., https://www.irs.gov/ charities-non-profits/charitable-organizations/ charitable-contribution-deductions.
- 200 Ian Vandewalker, "10 Years of Super PACs Show Courts Were Wrong on Corruption Risks," Brennan Center for Justice, March 25, 2020, https://www.brennancenter. org/our-work/analysis-opinion/10-years-super-pacsshow-courts-were-wrong-corruption-risks; Braden Goyette, "Cheat sheet: How Super PACs work, and why they're so controversial," New York Daily News, January 13, 2012, https://www.nydailynews.com/news/politics/ cheat-sheet-super-pacs-work-controversial-article-1.1005804.

- 201 Chisun Lee, Douglas Keith, "How Semi-Secret Spending Took Over Politics," *The Atlantic*, June 28, 2016, <u>https://</u> www.theatlantic.com/politics/archive/2016/06/therise-of-gray-money-in-politics/489002/; Trevor Potter, "Five myths about super PACs," *Washington Post*, April 13, 2012, <u>https://www.washingtonpost.com/</u> opinions/five-myths-about-super-pacs/2012/04/13/ glQAGPnEFT_story.html; "Super PACs," *OpenSecrets*. org, n.d., <u>https://www.opensecrets.org/</u> political-action-committees-pacs/super-pacs/2020.
- 202 Trevor Potter, "The Failed Promise of Unlimited "Independent" Spending in Elections," American Bar Association, June 26, 2020, https://www. americanbar.org/groups/crsj/publications/ human_rights_magazine_home/voting-in-2020/ the-failed-promise-of-unlimited-independent-spending/; Wendy Weiser, Alicia Bannon, An Election Agenda for Candidates, Activists, and Legislators, Brennan Center for Justice at New York University School of Law, 2018, https://www.brennancenter.org/our-work/ policy-solutions/democracy-election-agenda-candidates-activists-and-legislators.
- 203 "Organizations Not Required to File Form 1023," *IRS*, n.d., <u>https://www.irs.gov/char-</u> ities-non-profits/charitable-organizations/ organizations-not-required-to-file-form-1023.
- 204 "Public Disclosure and Availability of Exempt Organizations Returns and Applications: Contributors' Identities Not Subject to Disclosure," *IRS*, n.d., <u>https://www.irs.gov/charities-non-profits/</u> <u>public-disclosure-and-availability-of-exempt-organizations-returns-and-applications-contributors-identities-not-subject-to-disclosure.</u>
- 205 "Lobbying," *IRS*, n.d., <u>https://www.irs.gov/</u> charities-non-profits/lobbying#:~:text=ln%20general%2C%20no%20organization%20may,loss%20of%20 tax%2Dexempt%20status.
- 206 Craig B. Holman, Luke P. McLoughlin, Buying Time 2000: Television Advertising in the 2000 Federal Elections (New York University School of Law: Brennan Center for Justice, 2001), 22–26, <u>https://www. brennancenter.org/sites/default/files/2019-08/Report_ Buying_Time_2000.pdf</u>.

- 207 "Donor-Advised Funds Guide Sheet Explanation," *IRS*, n.d., <u>https://www.irs.gov/pub/irs-tege/donor_advised_explanation_073108.pdf</u>.
- 208 H.R. 1053, Corporate Political Disclosure Act, 116th Cong. (2019); Cydney Posner, "Is it Time for Corporate Political Spending Disclosure?" Harvard Law School Forum on Corporate Governance, March 17, 2019, https://corpgov.law.harvard.edu/2019/03/17/ is-it-time-for-corporate-political-spending-disclosure/; Lucian Bebchuk, Robert Jackson, "Shining a Light on Corporate Political Spending," Georgetown Law Journal, Vol. 101 (2013): 923-967, https://papers.srn.com/ sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=2142115.
- 209 Craig B. Holman, Luke P. McLoughlin, Buying Time 2000: Television Advertising in the 2000 Federal Elections, 22–26.
- 210 Richard W. Painter, *Taxation Only with Representation: The Conservative Conscience and Campaign Finance Reform* (USA: Take Back Our Republic, 2016).
- 211 Painter, Taxation Only with Representation, 13.
- 212 Ibid., 168.
- 213 Ibid., 72, 173.
- 214 Kimberly Amadeo, "U.S. Federal Budget Breakdown," The Balance, October 29, 2020, <u>https://www.thebal-ance.com/u-s-federal-budget-breakdown-3305789</u>.
- 215 David Vergun, "2020 Budget Focuses on High-End Threats, DOD Leaders Say," U.S. Department of Defense, March 14, 2019, https://www.defense.gov/Explore/ News/Article/Article/1785329/2020-budget-focuseson-high-end-threats-dod-leaders-say/.
- 216 "Top Federal Contractors Spend Millions on Influence, Get Billions in Contracts," *Project on Government Oversight*, August 31, 2017, <u>https://www.pogo.org/</u> <u>press/release/2017/top-federal-contractors-spend-mil-</u> <u>lions-on-influence-get-billions-in-contracts/</u>.

- 217 This section is adapted from a June 2020 article written by the author for CREW. See Anne Weismann, "The FOIA is broken, but is it beyond repair?" *CREW*, June 30, 2020, <u>https://www.citizensforethics.</u> org/reports-investigations/crew-investigations/ the-foia-is-broken-but-is-it-beyond-repair/.
- 218 Paul Marks, "New Administration's Deployment of "Alternative Facts" means Role of the Press and Open government Advocates Is More Vital Than Ever," *Connecticut Foundation for Open Government*, 2020, <u>https://ctfog.org/ news/newsletters/2017-volume-iii-issue-i/ new-administrations-deployment-of-alternative-factsmeans-role-of-the-press-and-open-government-advocates-is-more-vital-than-ever/.</u>
- 219 "The Limits of Transparency and FOIA Under Trump," *First Amendment Watch*, n.d., <u>https://</u> <u>firstamendmentwatch.org/deep-dive/</u> <u>the-limits-of-transparency-and-foia-under-trump/</u>.
- 220 *E.g.*, Elie Mystal, "We're Going to Need a Truth and Reconciliation Commission to Recover From Trump," *The Nation*, October 20, 2020, <u>https://www.thenation.</u> <u>com/article/politics/trump-truth-reconciliation/</u>.
- 221 Jill Lepore, "A 'truth' tribunal is not the answer," Washington Post, October 18, 2020, <u>https://www.</u> washingtonpost.com/outlook/truth-reconciliation-tribunal-trump-historians/2020/10/16/84026810-0e88-11e b-b1e8-16b59b92b36d_story.html.
- 222 For example, according to its annual FOIA report, the Department of Justice received 73,103 requests in FY 2016, that number rose to 95,119 in FY 2019, See Department of Justice, FY 2016 Annual FOIA Report: Received, Processed and Pending FOIA Requests, Washington DC: OIP (2017), https://www.justice. gov/oip/page/file/920586/download; Department of Justice, FY 2019 Annual FOIA Report: Received, Processed and Pending FOIA Requests, Washington DC: OIP (2020), https://www.justice.gov/oip/page/ file/1253771/download.
- 223 "October 2019 FOIA Litigation with Five Year Monthly Trends," *The FOIA Project*, November 19, 2019, <u>http://foiaproject.org/2019/11/19/october-2019-foia-litiga-tion-with-five-year-monthly-trends/</u>.

- 224 George Santayana, The Life of Reason: Introduction and Reason in Common Sense (Cambridge, MA: The MIT Press, 2011): 172, <u>https://santayana.iupui.edu/wp-content/uploads/2019/01/Common-Sense-ebook.pdf</u>.
- 225 David Shepardson, "Trump Abandons Plan to Host 2020 G7 Meeting at His Florida Golf Resort," *Reuters*, October 20, 2019, <u>https://www.reuters.com/article/us-usa-trump-g7-idUSKBN1WZ01E</u>; Tommy Beer, "Ivanka's Trademark Requests Were Fast-Tracked In China After Trump Was Elected," *Forbes*, September 22, 2020, <u>https://www.forbes.com/sites/</u> tommybeer/2020/09/22/ivankas-trademark-requestswere-fast-tracked-in-china-after-trump-was-elected/.
- 226 David A. Fahrenthold et al., "Ballrooms, candles and luxury cottages: During Trump's term, millions of government and GOP dollars have flowed to his properties," October 26, 2020, https://www.washingtonpost. com/politics/ballrooms-candles-and-luxury-cottages-during-trumps-term-millions-of-government-andgop-dollars-have-flowed-to-his-propertiesmar-a-lagocharged-the-government-3-apiece-for-glasses-of-water-for-trump-and-the-japanese-leader/2020/10/27/ 186f20a2-1469-11eb-bc10-40b25382f1be_story.html.
- 227 John Haltiwanger, "Trump Made \$40.8 Million Last Year from a Hotel That Critics Say He's Using to Illegally Profit from the Presidency," *Business Insider*, May 16, 2019, <u>https://www.businessinsider. com/trump-made-millions-last-year-from-his-hotelnear-the-white-house-2019-5; Walker Davis, "150 Foreign Government Officials Have Paid Visits to Trump Properties," *CREW*, October 23, 2020, <u>https:// www.citizensforethics.org/reports-investigations/ crew-investigations/150-foreign-government-officials-have-paid-visits-to-trump-properties/.</u></u>
- 228 David A. Fahrenthold et al., "State Department Signals It Will Keep Most Details of Its Spending at Trump's Properties Hidden until after Election," Washington Post, October 16, 2020, https://www.washingtonpost.com/ politics/state-department-signals-it-will-keep-mostdetails-of-its-spending-at-trumps-properties-hiddenuntil-after-election/2020/10/16/83372f30-0f21-11eb--8074-0e943a91bf08_story.html; Nicholas Fandos, Annie Karni, "Trump and His Businesses Sue House Democrats to Hide Accounting Records," *New York Times*, April 22, 2019, https://www.nytimes.com/2019/04/22/us/politics/ trump-sues-congress.html.

- 229 This section was heavily adapted from an article by the author written for CREW, "The FOIA is broken, but is it beyond repair?," June 30, 2020, https://www.citizensforethics.org/ reports-investigations/crew-investigations/ the-foia-is-broken-but-is-it-beyond-repair/.
- 230 Ted Bridis, "US Sets New Record for Censoring, Withholding Government Files," *AP News*, March 12, 2018, <u>https://apnews.com/</u> article/714791d91d7944e49a284a51fab65b85.
- 231 Nate Jones, "Public Records Requests Fall Victim to the Coronavirus Pandemic," *Washington Post*, October 1, 2020, <u>https://www.washingtonpost.</u> <u>com/investigations/public-records-requests-fall-vic-</u> <u>tim-to-the-coronavirus-pandemic/2020/10/01/</u> <u>cba2500c-b7a5-11ea-a8da-693df3d7674a_story.html</u>.
- 232 Department of Justice, FY 2019 Annual FOIA Report: Response Times for All Processed Requests, 2020, https://www.justice.gov/oip/page/file/1253781/ download.
- 233 "FOIA Update: OIP Guidance: When to Expedite FOIA Requests," *United States Department of Justice*, n.d., <u>https://www.justice.gov/oip/blog/</u> <u>foia-update-oip-guidance-when-expedite-foia-requests</u>.
- 234 Nick Schwellenbach, Sean Moulton, "The 'Most Abused' Freedom of Information Act Exemption Still Needs to be Reined In," February 6, 2020, https://www.pogo.org/ analysis/2020/02/the-most-abused-foia-exemptionstill-needs-to-be-reined-in/.
- 235 Dino Grandoni, Juliet Eliperin, "Trump environmental officials are keeping tight rein over stampede of FOIA requests, *Washington Post*, December 15, 2017, https://www.washingtonpost.com/news/powerpost/ wp/2017/12/15/trump-environmental-officials-arekeeping-tight-rein-over-stampede-of-foia-requests/.
- 236 Julie Hirschfeld Davis, "White House to Keep its Visitor Logs Secret," *New York Times*, April 14, 2017, <u>https://www.nytimes.com/2017/04/14/us/politics/visitor-log-white-house-trump.html</u>.
- 237 Citizens for Responsibility and Ethics in Washington v. U.S. Department of Justice, 846 F.3d 1235, 1238 (D.C. Cir. 2017) (citation omitted).

- 238 Alex Adbo, "Selective Disclosure of OLC Legal Opinions Isn't Enough," Just Security, December 20, 2019, <u>https://www.justsecurity.org/67828/</u> selective-disclosure-of-olc-legal-opinions-isnt-enough/.
- 239 Testimonial Immunity Before Congress of the Former Counsel to the President, 43 Op. O.L.C. (May 20, 2019), https://www.justice.gov/olc/opinion/file/1215066/ download.
- 240 Congressional Committee's Request for the President's Tax Returns Under 26 U.S.C. § 6103(f) 43 Op. O.L.C. (June 13, 2019), <u>https://www.justice.gov/olc/opinion/file/1215066/download</u>.
- 241 Isaac Arnsdorf, "Justice Department releases letter approving travel ban," *Politico*, February 2, 2017, <u>https://www.politico.com/story/2017/02/</u> justice-department-trump-travel-ban-234561.
- 242 Annie Karni, "Meet the Guys Who Tape Trump's Papers Back Together," *Politico*, June 10, 2018, <u>https://politi.</u> <u>co/2LHfMfF</u>; Vivian Salama et al., "Trump Didn't Deploy Note Takers at Putin Meeting," *Wall Street Journal*, January 13, 2019, <u>https://www.wsj.com/</u> <u>articles/trump-didnt-deploy-note-takers-at-putin-meeting-11547419186</u>.
- 243 Brian Greer, "How to Ensure That Trump Preserves Official Documents," *Lawfare*, November 6, 2020, <u>https://www.lawfareblog.com/</u> <u>how-ensure-trump-preserves-official-documents</u>.
- 244 Louis Charbonneau, "Multilateralism Under Threat," Human Rights Watch, June 24, 2019, https://www. hrw.org/news/2019/06/24/multilateralism-under-threat#; Anthony Dworkin, "Europe's fight for multilateralism: With or without the US?" European Council on Foreign Relations, October 21, 2020, https://ecfr.eu/article/commentary_europes_ fight_for_multilateralism_with_or_without_the_us/; Alex Pascal, "Against Washington's 'Great Power' Obsession," The Atlantic, September 23, 2019, https:// www.theatlantic.com/politics/archive/2019/09/ multilateralism-nearly-dead-s-terrible-news/598615/.
- 245 "Open Justice," Open Government Partnership (OGP), n.d., <u>https://www.opengovpartnership.org/</u>.

- 246 "The global standard for the good governance of oil, gas and mineral resources," *The Extractive Industries Transparency Initiative* (EITI), n.d., <u>https://eiti.org/</u>.
- 247 "Open Government Partnership," *The White House President Barack Obama*, n.d., <u>https://obamawhite-house.archives.gov/open/partnership</u>.
- 248 "OGP's Three-Year Implementation Plan," *OGP*, November 2019, <u>https://www.opengovpartnership.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/01/OGP_3YP-Implementation-Plan_Draft-for-Comment.pdf</u>, 3.
- 249 1-in-5 Commitments are found to be credibly implemented and ambitious, See Ibid., 3–4.
- 250 Ibid., 5.
- 251 Ibid.
- 252 Maggie Jo Buchanan, Maha Jweied, Karen A. Lash, "The Need to Rebuild the DOJ Office for Access to Justice," *Center for American Progress*, November 24, 2020, <u>https://www.americanprogress.</u> org/issues/courts/news/2020/11/24/493195/ need-rebuild-doj-office-access-justice/.
- 253 "The Recovery Act: Success Stories in the States," Democratic Policy Committee, n.d., <u>https://www.dpc.senate.gov/dpcissue-arrasuccess.cfm#none</u>.
- 254 Megan Smith, Roy L. Austin, "Launching the Police Data Initiative," *The White House President Barack Obama*, May 18, 2015, <u>https://obamawhitehouse.archives.</u> gov/blog/2015/05/18/launching-police-data-initiative#:~:text=Last%20December%2C%20President%20 Obama%20launched,enforcement%20and%20 enhance%20community%20engagement.
- 255 Blog Editor, "IRM releases United States report for public comment," *OGP*, October 23, 2013, <u>https://</u> <u>www.opengovpartnership.org/stories/irm-releases-</u> <u>united-states-report-for-public-comment/;</u> Suzanne Piotrowski, "Independent Reporting Mechanism: United States Progress Report, 2013-2015," *OGP*, 2015, <u>https://www.opengovpartnership.org/wp-content/</u> <u>uploads/2001/01/US%202nd%20IRM%20Report_final.</u> <u>pdf</u>, 5, 12, 62.

- 256 Jeanne Whalen, "Congress bans anonymous shell companies after long campaign by anti-corruption groups," Washington Post, December 11, 2020, https:// www.washingtonpost.com/us-policy/2020/12/11/ anonymous-shell-company-us-ban/; "NDAA Includes Historic Anti-Corruption Reforms," POGO, December 11, 2020, https://www.pogo.org/press/release/2020/ ndaa-includes-historic-anti-corruption-reforms/.
- 257 For the People Act, H.R. 1, 116th Cong. 1st Sess.(2019); Voting Rights Advancement Act, H.R. 4, 116th Cong. (2019).
- 258 "Disclosing beneficial ownership information in the natural resource sector," Natural Resource Governance Institute, OGP, World Resources Institute, February 2016, https://opengovpartnership.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/05/ FIN200GP20Issue20Brief20B020Disc1.pdf; "Political integrity," OGP, n.d., https://www.opengovpartnership. org/policy-area/elections-political-finance/; "Beneficial Ownership," OGP, n.d., https://www.opengovpartnership.org/policy-area/beneficial-ownership/.
- 259 "Partnerships and Coalitions," *OGP*, n.d., <u>https://www.opengovpartnership.org/about/</u> <u>partnerships-and-coalitions/</u>.
- 260 Open Government Partnership, "OGP CEO Sanjay Pradhan Addresses the 19th International Anti-Corruption Conference," *Youtube*, December 2, 2020, <u>https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=nR9P0KmTuqM&ab_channel=OpenGovernmentPartnership</u>.
- 261 "Who we are," *EITI*, n.d., <u>https://eiti.org/news</u>.
- 262 "Outcomes and impact of the EITI," *EITI*, n.d., <u>https://eiti.org/outcomes-impact-of-eiti</u>.
- 263 "Who we are," EITI.
- 264 "United States of America," *EITI*, Last Updated April 28, 2020, <u>https://eiti.org/united-states-of-america;</u> "Extractive Industries Transparency Initiative (EITI)," *U.S. Department of State*, n.d., <u>https://www.state.gov/ extractive-industries-transparency-initiative-eiti/.</u>

- 265 "EITI Standard 2019," *EITI*, March 2019, <u>https://eiti.org/</u> <u>document/eiti-standard-2019</u>.
- 266 Danielle Brian, Tim Stretton, "POGO Opposes the SEC's Resource Extraction Disclosure Rules," *POGO*, March 16, 2020, <u>https://www.pogo.org/letter/2020/03/</u> <u>pogo-opposes-the-secs-resource-extraction-disclosure-rules/</u>.
- 267 Keith Paul Bishop, "Is Coal A Mineral and Why Ask?" National Law Review, January 10, 2020, https://www. natlawreview.com/article/coal-mineral-and-why-ask; "SEC Adopts Rules for Resource Extraction Issuers Under Dodd-Frank Act," U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission, June 27, 2016, https://www.sec.gov/ news/pressrelease/2016-132.html; Nicholas Grabar et al., "Congress Rolls Back SEC Resource Extraction Payments Rule," Harvard Law School Forum on Corporate Governance, February 16, 2017, https:// corpgov.law.harvard.edu/2017/02/16/congress-rollsback-sec-resource-extraction-payments-rule/.
- 268 Ibid.
- 269 Anna T. Pinedo, "United States: SEC Open Meeting Next Week," *Mondaq*, December 15, 2020, <u>https://www.mondaq.com/unitedstates/securities/1016360/sec-open-meeting-next-week;</u> Will Englund, "Oil and mining companies should disclose what they pay, the law says. Critics say the SEC is undermining it," *Washington Post*, April 6, 2020, <u>https://www.washingtonpost.</u> <u>com/business/2020/04/06/energy-companies-for-eign-payments/;</u> Julia Rock, "Now Trump and Big Oil Are Trying to Gut an Anti-Corruption Rule," *Jacobin*, December 12, 2020, <u>https://jacobinmag.com/2020/12/big-oil-anti-corruption-sec-trump-fossil-fuel</u>.
- 270 Joseph R. Biden, "Why America Must Lead Again," Foreign Affairs, March/April 2020, <u>https://www.</u> foreignaffairs.com/articles/united-states/2020-01-23/ why-america-must-lead-again.
- 271 "G7 Summit, Volume 808: debated on Thursday 26 November 2020," UK Parliament, November 26, 2020, https://hansard.parliament.uk/Lords/2020-11-26/ debates/D69B9FEC-0DAE-4672-B857-C9AFB4C89652/ G7Summit.

- 272 "UNGASS 2021–UN General Assembly Special Session Against Corruption," UNCAC Coalition, Last Updated September 1, 2020, <u>https://uncaccoalition.org/</u> ungass/.
- 273 Zachary Basu, "EU adopts human rights sanctions framework styled after Magnitsky Act," Axios, December 7, 2020, <u>https://www.axios.com/</u> <u>eu-global-magnitsky-act-sanctions-1853435e-17f4-</u> <u>4bdd-9517-dc30462a7a7a.html.</u>
- 274 "Setting the rules for lobbying," *OECD*, n.d., <u>https://www.oecd.org/about/impact/setting-the-right-rules-for-lobbying.htm;</u> "OECD Principles for Transparency and Integrity in Lobbying," *OECD*, n.d., <u>https://www.oecd.org/gov/ethics/oecdprinciplesfortransparencyandin-tegrityinlobbying.htm</u>.
- 275 The Secretariat of the Global Forum on Transparency and Exchange of Information for Tax Purposes, "A Beneficial Ownership Implementation Toolkit," *OECD* and *Inter-American Development Bank*, March 2019, https://www.oecd.org/tax/transparency/beneficial-ownership-toolkit.pdf; "Transparency and Beneficial Ownership," *Financial Action Task Force*, October 2014, http://www.fatf-gafi.org/media/fatf/documents/ reports/Guidance-transparency-beneficial-ownership. pdf.
- 276 Thomas E. Ricks, First Principles: What America's Founders Learned from the Greeks and Romans and How That Shaped Our Country (New York: HarperCollins, 2020).
- 277 "President Trump's 3,400 conflicts of interest," CREW.
- 278 Jill Abramson, "Nepotism and corruption: the handmaidens of Trump's presidency"; Norman Eisen et al.,"The Emoluments Clause: Its Text, Meaning, and Application to Donald J. Trump."
- 279 "President Trump's 3,400 conflicts of interest," CREW; Dan Alexander, "Forbes Estimates China Paid Trump at Least \$5.4 Million Since He Took Office, Via Mysterious Trump Tower Lease."

- 280 Devlin Barrett, Matt Zapotosky, "Barr accuses Justice Department of headhunting and meddling with politics"; Sadie Gurman, "Barr Defends Deploying Federal Agents to Protests in Showdown with House Democrats."
- 281 Brian Schwartz, Lauren Hirsch, "Presidential elections have turned into money wars—thanks to a Supreme Court decision in 2010"; Emma Green, "The Local Consequences of Citizens United."
- 282 The Foreign Emoluments Clause was the Framers' response to the tactics deployed by foreign sovereigns and their agents to acquire influence over officials by giving them gifts, money, and other things of value, See Zephyr Teachout, *Corruption in America* (Cambridge: Harvard University Press, 2014); Norman Eisen et al., "The Emoluments Clause: Its Text, Meaning, and Application to Donald J. Trump."
- 283 Glenn Kessler, Salvador Rizzo, Meg Kelly, "President Trump has made more than 20,000 false or misleading claims," *Washington Post*, July 13, 2020, <u>https://www.washingtonpost.com/politics/2020/07/13/</u> president-trump-has-made-more-than-20000-false-ormisleading-claims/.
- 284 Sean Illing, "How Fox News evolved into a propaganda operation," Vox, March 22, 2019, https://www.vox.com/2019/3/22/18275835/ fox-news-trump-propaganda-tom-rosenstiel.
- 285 "The Limits of Transparency and FOIA Under Trump," *First Amendment Watch* at New York University, n.d., <u>https://firstamendmentwatch.org/deep-dive/</u> <u>the-limits-of-transparency-and-foia-under-trump/</u>.
- 286 Isaac Arnsdorf, "Trump: 'The president can't have a conflict of interest," *Politico*, November 22, 2016, <u>https://www.politico.com/story/2016/11/trump-thepresident-cant-have-a-conflict-of-interest-231760</u>.
- 287 "Remarks of U.S. Office of Government Ethics Director Walter M. Shaub, Jr. at the Brooking Institution";"President Trump's 3,400 conflicts of interest," *CREW*.

- 288 Office of Legal Counsel, U.S. Department of Justice, "Application of the Anti-Nepotism Statute to a Presidential Appointment in the White House Office"; Jill Abramson, "Nepotism and corruption: the handmaidens of Trump's presidency."
- 289 18 U.S.C. § 207(c), (d).
- 290 Abigail Abrams, "Here's What We Know So Far About Russia's 2016 Meddling."
- 291 Patrick Howell O'Neill, "The Russian hackers who interfered in 2016 were spotted targeting the 2020 US election."
- 292 "Protecting Democracy: Modernizing the Foreign Agents Registration Act," *CERL*, April 17, 2019, <u>https://www.law.upenn.edu/institutes/cerl/conferences/fara/</u>.

- 293 Sam Berger, "How a Future President Can Hold the Trump Administration Accountable."
- 294 "Report on the Department of Justice and the Rule of Law Under the Tenure of Attorney General William Barr," *CERL* and *CREW*.
- 295 Abrams, "Here's What We Know So Far About Russia's 2016 Meddling."
- 296 "Citizens United v. FEC (Supreme Court)," Federal Election Commission, February 1, 2010, <u>https://www.fec.gov/updates/citizens-united-v-fecsupreme-court/;</u> <u>Ted Deutch</u>, "Supreme Court's Citizens United mistake just turned 10 years old. It's time to reverse it," *NBC_ News*, January 21, 2020, <u>https://www.nbcnews.com/</u> <u>think/opinion/supreme-court-s-citizens-united-mistake-</u> just-turned-ten-years-ncna1119826.





B Governance Studies at BROOKINGS

The Brookings Institution 1775 Massachusetts Ave., NW Washington, D.C. 20036 Brookings.edu

